
Annual Report 2023



CEPS PLC  Company number 00507461 

Contents

page 

Chairman’s Statement 2 

Strategic Report 7 

Directors’ Report 10 

Corporate Governance 13 

Independent Auditor’s Report 15 

Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income 21 

Consolidated and Company 
Statements of Financial Position 22 

Consolidated and Company 
Statements of Cash Flows 23 

Consolidated and Company 
Statements of Changes in Equity 25 

Notes to the Financial Statements 27 

Group Information 72 

Notice of Meeting 73 

1



I am delighted to present to shareholders the CEPS PLC (‘CEPS’ or ‘Company’) final 
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Macro overview The year we are reporting on has followed the pattern of the past few years with several 
momentous world events impacting on the UK economy.  Firstly, we have the 
continuation of the war between Russia and Ukraine following Russia’s invasion in 
February 2022.  This has now been ongoing for more than two years and whilst the 
market economic repercussions of this were strongly felt in 2022, over the course of 
2023 these have gradually dissipated.  The demise of the Silicon Valley Bank, which was 
the 16th largest bank in the USA and with representation in the UK, in March 2023, was 
initially a major concern but its problems were highly localised and did not, in the end, 
spread contagion into the wider banking system. 

The attack on Israel by Hamas in October 2023 and the subsequent reactions of Israel 
and Iran has caused a heightening in tensions in an already tense part of the World.  This 
uncertainty has led to volatility in oil and gas prices and recently the Houthi pirates 
operating in Yemen have been attacking shipping in the Red Sea and off the coast of 
Yemen.  This has led to increased costs and delays for shipping. 

However, the two major factors in 2023, which we are still facing as I write today, were 
the rapid rise in inflation in 2022, the impact of which was largely felt in 2023, and the 
associated multiple rises in interest rates which rose 14 times from 0.1% in December 
2021 to what we expect to be a peak today of 5.25%.  This rate was reached in August 
2023.  Of greater importance to CEPS PLC is the impact on consumer spending and the 
public’s disposable income.  Initially, with the very rapid rise in inflation, real wages fell 
behind.  However, more recently as wages have risen sharply and inflation has declined 
equally sharply, positive real wage growth has re-emerged. 

Of equal importance, markets were expecting a dramatic rise in mortgage rates which 
would have severely reduced spending power as much higher rates would have 
replaced, historically, extraordinarily low rates.  However, this impact has been far less 
than was feared as today some 80% of mortgages, as compared to almost none in 1988 
when fixed rate mortgages were first introduced, are now on fixed terms.  Therefore, 
there is, by definition, a long lead in time for the impact of these increases to have any 
effect.  Mortgage rates, anticipating a future steady reduction in Bank of England rates, 
have fallen sharply to much more manageable levels and, consequently, what was 
expected to be a massive problem is now much reduced. 

Some 18 months ago the Bank of England warned that the UK was going to move into 
its longest recession for one hundred years and that unemployment would rise from 
3.5% to 6.5%. The IMF also endorsed this view.  Thankfully, the outturn was significantly 
different with the UK moving into a technical, very marginal recession in January 2024.  
Unemployment has risen to 4.2% in the past few months, still some way short of the 
long-term average. 

Despite these issues on the macro level, total CEPS revenue increased to £29.7m from 
£26.4m, an increase of 12.2%, gross profits increased from £10.9m to £12.5m, an 
increase of 14.5%, and operating profits rose from £2.1m to £2.5m, an increase of 
19.9%.  Earnings per share increased from 2.19p to 2.65p, an increase of 21.0%. 

Looking at the financial performance of the underlying companies in more detail: 
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Aford Awards 
The company has had a year of consolidation, and, not unlike the Hickton Group in 2022, 
has built a stronger, more diversified and better controlled business.  However, this has 
obviously come at a cost which is reflected in the modest improvements in profits below. 

The market sector is experiencing some strategic change and Aford Awards is looking to 
position itself for the future.  It has, as ever, several discussions under way with small 
competitor companies which would, if they are acquired, be integrated into the Aford 
Awards structure at Maidstone. 

In addition, Aford Awards are creating and developing several new embryonic business 
streams which are related to their current activities, and which it is expected, in the future, 
will make high returns on capital employed. 

Sales in 2023 were £3.5m as compared to £3.1m in 2022.  The associated EBITDAs 
were £556,000 and £546,000, respectively. 

Friedman’s/Milano International 
The two companies together had sales of £6.8m in 2023 as compared to £6.4m in 2022.  
The associated EBITDAs were £1.1m and £897,000. 

Friedman’s has continued to grow its profits, whilst Milano International is now 
responding well to management treatment and has now moved into profitability in 2023 
and is expected to increase its profitability further in 2024. 

Hickton Group 
As expected, the Hickton Group had a strong recovery from the results of 2022. 

Sales were £19.4m in 2023 as compared to £16.9m in 2022.  The associated EBITDAs 
were £2.1m and £1.8m, respectively. 

Vale Brothers 
Unfortunately, the company went into administration on 19 October 2023.  This was in 
common with other companies providing equipment to the sporting leisure market where 
demand has been sharply reduced. 

CEPS has held the shares and loan stock in Vale Brothers at nil value so there was no 
impact on the Company’s profitability or balance sheet. 

Dilapidations A review of potential dilapidation costs for leased properties within the Group has been 
undertaken in the year.  Where applicable, provision has been made for dilapidations, 
including associated professional fees, which may be required.  As at 31 December 2023 
the provision amounted to £400,000. 

Share capital There was no share issuance in the current year and, therefore, the issued share capital 
remains at 21,000,000 shares as it has since September 2021. 

A major shareholder of CEPS, Chelverton Growth Trust plc (‘CGT’), owned 5,406,301 
shares in CEPS PLC (26.0%) and was placed into a planned members voluntary 
liquidation to return its assets to its shareholders.  For each share in Chelverton Growth 
Trust plc a shareholder received one share in CEPS.  This transfer took place recently in 
March 2024.  So, whilst there was no change in the number of shares in issue, the 
number of CEPS shareholders has increased to 220. 

Because CEPS itself was an old fully listed public company and CGT was created from 
another old public company, there is now a long tail of long-term shareholders with small 
shareholdings.  The bottom 177 shareholders, roughly 80% of shareholders by number, 
are estimated to own 8.7% of the issued share capital. 
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You will see on page 6 that the share capital reduction is expected to become effective 
in early May 2024.  One of the reasons for doing this is to enable the Company, in time, 
to buy back its own shares.  So, once the Company has sufficient distributable reserves, 
anticipated to be by the publication of the audited results for next year, the Company is 
expected to be in a position where it can technically buy back and cancel shares.  This 
will be, hopefully, a great benefit to shareholders with very small shareholdings who are 
not registered with a stockbroker or trading platform. 

The Takeover Panel, which is one of the bodies that monitors and regulates large 
shareholdings and takeovers of AIM and Listed companies, has designated that there is 
a new ‘Concert Party’.  A Concert Party is a group of shareholders which the Takeover 
Panel has decided are sufficiently closely related in business and socially that they should 
be deemed as acting together.  The Horner Family, which owns 29.99% of CEPS’ share 
capital, and a further six individuals, including two directors, are now deemed to be in 
this group making up a total of 33.7%. 

Debt structure The debt in CEPS, the parent company, remains unchanged with a £2.0m loan from a 
third party with a coupon of 7% and due to be repaid by 30 June 2025.  In addition, the 
loan from Chelverton Asset Management Limited (‘CAM’) of £2.95m with a coupon of 
5% is repayable with a notice period of 18 months and a loan of £192,000 to me remains 
outstanding. 

Cash held by the Company at the financial year end was £185,000 (2022: £256,000) and 
Group cash was £916,000 (2022: £1.3m). 

The reason CEPS has debt at this level is principally because we are acutely conscious 
of the cost of equity and have historically been very reluctant to issue shares and, in 
particular, at what we consider to be ‘the wrong price’.  The loan from CAM (‘CAM Loan’) 
referred to above is guaranteed by me.  CAM is a fund management company that I 
founded 26 years ago which has a strong balance sheet. 

CEPS’ subsidiary companies are profitable and are strong cash generators and, 
therefore, using an element of debt in their financing is highly logical.  The financing for 
our subsidiaries is largely provided through vendor loan notes when we buy companies 
and by CEPS providing finance to go with the modest equity investment. 

So, for example, CEPS made a £1m loan to Signature Fabrics Limited, the holding 
company of Friedman’s and Milano International, which was used to part finance the 
acquisition of Milano International in October 2019.  As Friedman’s and Milano 
International make profits and generate cash, then these funds will be used to service the 
interest and to repay this loan stock.  Indeed, as at 31 December 2023, repayments had 
been made to CEPS from Signature Fabrics such that the outstanding debt amounted 
to £816,000.  As further repayments are made, the funds received will be used to repay 
the CEPS debts referred to above.  So, although CEPS only owns 55% of the equity of 
Signature Fabrics, it has access to 100% of its cashflow until the loan notes are repaid. 

In CEPS we have external debt, as referred to above of some £5,142,000 and loan notes 
and loans owed by the three subsidiaries of some £4,490,000. 

Pension As we brought to shareholders’ attention late in 2022, the Dinkie Heel plc Retirement 
Benefits Scheme was transferred to Aviva.  This was a really important step and the 
potential savings and, more importantly, the reduction of risk was probably 
underappreciated by market observers.  We have been waiting for the payment from 
Aviva and were pleased to announce on the 18 April 2024 that £345,000 had been 
received on account and that, once all the fees and costs have been settled, then there 
may be further modest sums received in the future. 
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Shareholder value creation It has been raised in the past by investors and potential investors that the ‘CEPS Model’ 
is unusual as compared to most public companies.  The model has been developed over 
some 20 years and the objective is to acquire companies in niche sectors, at a size level 
where there are little or no competitive buyers, with the companies being too big for 
individual purchasers, but also too small for corporate or private equity investors.  The 
‘business drivers’ in the target company are incentivised and commit to at least a five-
year programme. 

An example of the CEPS acquisition model would be as follows: all but £100,000, which 
is the equity, is committed and the rest of the purchase price is financed by the sellers 
providing vendor loan notes, CEPS providing acquisition loan notes and the shareholders 
in the new company, set up to make the acquisition, providing shareholder loan notes.  
Whilst this seems to be a lot of debt, all the loan stocks are unsecured and the payment 
of the interest on the loan notes and, indeed, their repayment is decided by the Board.  
So, in fact these loan notes have many of the characteristics of equity but can be repaid 
from surplus cash generation. 

There are several profit/value drivers which we will harness going forward, and we hope 
that they will increase the value of CEPS: 

– Expected increase in the profits of the three subsidiaries; 

– Self-funded ‘bolt-on deals’ in each of the three subsidiaries in the manner that has  
occurred over the past five years; 

– Repayment of loan stocks from the subsidiaries, absent any acquisitions, leading firstly  
to the repayment of the £2m third party loan in 2025 and then the CAM Loan of 
£2.95m; 

– Increase in CEPS’ shareholdings in the subsidiary companies.  For example,  
shareholders will be aware that CEPS increased its shareholding in the Hickton Group 
from 52.4% to 53.8% by buying shares from exiting external minority investors.  
Clearly, this is a very low risk form of acquisition; 

– Share buy backs and cancellation in the future as the small shareholders may wish to 
sell their shares with CEPS acting as the buyer of last resort.   This shrinking of the 
share capital should, at the right price, and over time, prove to be very earnings accretive;  
and  

– As we grow the businesses, it is likely that we will be approached by larger corporates 
and private equity funds to buy one or more of the subsidiaries.  This would likely be 
for a significant one-off gain. 

Share price Shareholders may be aware of the recent decline in the share price.  The Board, who 
collectively owns 6,709,000 shares (32%), is of course acutely aware of this! 

The recent announcement that CEPS had received £345,000, net of tax, from Aviva 
prompted a 12.5% decline in the share price which I have to say, even to someone who 
has been managing funds investing in Listed and AIM shares for 30 years, I found to be 
completely perverse.  Because the Horner Family owns 6,299,000 shares, if we were to 
buy another 1,000 shares we would be obliged to make an offer for the whole Company.  
It is not our intention to do this currently. 

One of the reasons why I have produced such a long statement is to ensure that what 
we are trying to do and how we are doing it at CEPS is in the ‘public domain’.  This will 
enable me to go and introduce CEPS to new buyers who may well be able to buy up 
small parcels of shares to try to ensure that the market makers are not worried about 
being left with CEPS shares on their books. 
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As it is not our intention, at this point, to instigate a major fundraising exercise then there 
will not be availability of significant blocks of shares for larger buyers to build a significant 
holding.  This explains the intention of finding private clients who are prepared to 
gradually build a holding, over time, from multiple small purchases. 

It is important to point out the Board is focused on not only improving the profits of the 
underlying subsidiaries, but also to improve their quality and to gradually transform 
privately run companies, with all the good and bad that suggests, to be properly 
accountable and well-run businesses. 

It is also important to bear in mind that we believe that CEPS’ shares qualify for Business 
Relief which means that if the shares are owned for more than two years, they fall out of 
an individual’s estate for Inheritance Tax purposes.  Whilst this is, of course, very 
attractive, our primary focus is making the shares much more valuable. 

Capital reduction The capital reduction received Court approval on 30 April 2024 and is expected to 
become effective in early May 2024.  It is something of a technical issue as the total 
balance sheet value of the Company does not change and the constituent parts are 
reclassified.  The effect of this is to reduce the historical deficit on retained earnings in the 
reserves and to accelerate the time when the Company can be able to pay dividends or, 
more likely, buy back shares. 

Outlook Going forward in 2024 we are very hopeful that the continued anticipated decline in 
inflation will lead to a steady, but regular, decline in interest rates in the second half of the 
calendar year.  Historically, that sort of environment has been very positive for small 
company share prices. 

As mentioned in my introduction, things are currently very uncertain across the UK and 
Europe.  This year, 2024, is being labelled as the Year of Elections, as more than half the 
World will be voting in national elections.  In the UK, the polling currently shows that we 
are set for a change of government.  After all the instability over the past eight years, a 
period of political renewal and revitalisation is to be welcomed. 

Whilst a reader and listener to the mainstream media might well believe that the UK 
economy is in a disastrous place, in my opinion this is not completely correct.  Certainly, 
things could be better, but when could they not!  The UK has for far too long suffered 
with low growth and whilst UK GDP has grown modestly, GDP per capita has not. 
It seems that all parties accept that much of what Liz Truss and Kwasi Kwarteng were 
saying was correct, it was just their ham-fisted way of introducing it that was wrong. 

With the management teams continuing to perform in the subsidiaries, we expect our 
companies to be winners and to outperform.  A long overdue period of stability will assist 
them in their endeavours.   As I wrote last year, and frankly I believe I could not put better, 
‘it is the Board’s intention to continue to develop the underlying companies and, where 
appropriate, to make judicious acquisitions to accelerate this anticipated organic growth.  
Improvements in productivity, quality, service and margins are the universal targets’. 

 

 

 

 

David Horner 
Chairman 
2 May 2024

Share price  continued
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The directors present their Strategic Report on the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2023. 

The business model The principal activities of CEPS PLC are that of a holding company for service and 
manufacturing companies, acquiring stakes in stable and steadily growing entrepreneurial 
companies.  Its objective is to generate capital growth by aggregating the steadily 
growing profits from the subsidiary companies using their cash flows to repay acquisition 
debt.  In due course, the objective is to provide a robust and steadily growing dividend 
stream from an increasing number of growing, profitable and cash generative 
entrepreneurial companies. 

The companies that have been acquired are in a range of sectors and operate in niche 
markets, thereby diversifying the risk.  Aford Awards is a sports trophy and engraving 
company; Friedman’s is a convertor and distributor of specialist lycra and Milano 
International, trading as Milano Pro-Sport, is a designer and manufacturer of leotards; 
Hickton Group, comprising Hickton Quality Control, Cook Brown, Morgan Lambert and 
Qualitas Compliance, provides services to the construction industry.  Segmental analysis 
is given in note 4 to the accounts. 

Review of the business A review of the business and its prospects are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on 
pages 2 to 6. 

The Group’s internal reporting system enables the Board to assess the strategic direction 
of the Group against agreed targets.  The table below shows the most important key 
performance indicators used by the Group: 

2023) 2022) 

Revenue £29,675,000) £26,449,000) 
Segmental result (EBITDA) (page 41) £3,692,000) £3,243,000) 
Profit before tax £1,791,000) £1,346,000) 
Profit after tax £1,224,000) £1,076,000) 
Total equity £5,593,000) £4,515,000) 
Net debt (total borrowings less cash) (page 37) £6,026,000) £6,136,000) 
Gearing ratio (net debt/total equity) 108%) 136%) 

The Chairman has commented on the main key performance indicators in his Statement 
on pages 2 to 6. 

The Board also monitors matters relating to health and safety and the environment and 
reviews them at its regular meetings.  The risks to the business arising from changes to 
the trading environment and employee retention and training are also regularly monitored 
and reviewed. 

The Board operates a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and managing risk.  
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its 
effectiveness.  The system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure 
to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives and can only provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board monitors financial controls through the setting and approval of annual budgets 
throughout the Group and the regular review of monthly management accounts. 

Each Group company has defined authorisation levels for expenditure, the placing of 
orders and signing authorities.  The daily cash movements of the Group companies are 
reconciled and monitored by their finance departments.  The Group’s cash flow is 
monitored by the Board. 
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Each year on behalf of the Board, the Finance Director attends audit review meetings at 
each of the Group companies at which the auditors present their findings, including a 
comprehensive review of risks/potential risks which cover both financial and non-financial 
issues which could potentially affect a Group company. 

If any issues are identified by the Group companies at the regular company board 
meetings these are raised at the next CEPS Board meeting.  However, depending on the 
severity of the issue, information may be disseminated to the Board immediately. 

The key risks the Board seeks to mitigate are: competition, dependence on key personnel 
and the supply chain. 

Competition – while the Group’s trade is differentiated, there is still significant pricing 
pressure and the barriers to entry are relatively low.  As a result there is the risk that 
competitors could emerge to challenge the products offered by the Group.  This could 
result, over time, in price competition and margin pressure.  In order to mitigate this 
pressure, local management seek to hold regular discussions with customers and 
actively monitor the market for changes in competitors’ prices. 

Dependence on key personnel – the Group’s performance is largely dependent on its 
subsidiary staff and managers.  The success of the Group will continue to be dependent 
on the expertise and experience of the directors and the management teams, and the 
loss of personnel could still have an adverse effect on the Group.  This risk is mitigated 
by ensuring that key personnel are suitably incentivised and contractually bound. 

Supply chain – the differentiated nature of the Group’s trade means that it is exposed to 
a reliance on a small number of suppliers.  The Group mitigates this risk through effective 
supplier selection and procurement practices. 

See note 2 for an assessment of the financial risks. 

Directors’ duties The directors of the Company are required to act in accordance with a set of general 
duties.  These duties are detailed in section 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006 which 
is summarised as follows: ‘A director of a company must act in the way they consider, in 
good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit 
of its shareholders as a whole’. 

The directors are aware of their obligations with regard to the matters under section 172, 
namely: 
a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term; 
b) the interest of the Company’s employees; 
c) the need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers 

and others; 
d) the impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment: 
e) the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of 

business conduct; and 
f) the need to act fairly between members of the Company. 

The Board regularly receives reports from management on issues in respect of 
shareholders, suppliers, the community, the environment and regulators, which it takes 
into account in its decision-making process.  In addition to this, the Board seeks to 
understand the interests and views of the organisations’ stakeholders by engaging with 
them directly as appropriate. 

The Board recognises its prime responsibility under UK corporate law is to promote the 
success of the Group for the benefit of its shareholders as a whole.  The Board regularly 
receives reports from management on issues in respect of shareholders, employees, 
suppliers, customers, the community, the environment and regulators which it takes into 
account in its decision-making process. 

Review of the business 
continued
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Directors’ duties  continued At 31 December 2023 the Group employed 265 people and they remain the Group’s 
most important asset.  It is the policy of the Group that there should be no unfair 
discrimination in considering applications for employment, including those from disabled 
persons.  All employees are given equal opportunities for career development and 
promotion.  Health and safety committee meetings are held within the operating 
businesses. 

The Board believes that the growth strategies of the companies will be beneficial to 
customers and suppliers.  They build relationships with suppliers and the policy is to pay 
consistently and meet payment terms.  High standards of service are a key measure for 
customers and maintain reputation and relationships. 

In addition to this, the Board seeks to understand the interests and views of the 
organisations’ stakeholders by engaging with them directly as appropriate. 

Future developments A review of the business and its prospects are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on 
pages 2 to 6. 

 

By order of the Board 
V E Langford 
Company Secretary 
2 May 2024
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Directors The directors of the Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of 
signing the financial statements were as follows: 

D A Horner (64) is an executive director and Chairman.  He qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 1985 with Touche Ross & Co.  In 1986 he joined 3i Corporate Finance 
Limited.  In 1997 he set up Chelverton Asset Management Limited which specialises in 
managing portfolios of investments in private companies and small to medium size public 
companies.  He manages the Chelverton UK Dividend Trust Plc and is a director of a 
number of private companies.  In 2013 he resigned his membership of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, as his career is now fully involved in fund 
management. 

V E Langford (62) is Group Finance Director.  She is a Chartered Accountant and is also 
the Company Secretary of CEPS PLC.  She has management experience across a wide 
range of business functions, typically with finance at the core, but also including HR, 
compliance and IT.  She has significant project management experience with expertise 
in financial analysis, contract negotiation and company acquisitions. 

D E Johnson (64) is a non-executive director.  He has worked in the investment sector 
for a number of years.  Between 2003 and 2013 he worked for Panmure Gordon as 
Head of Sales from 2006 and then Head of Equities from 2009.  More recently he has 
acted as a non-executive director of both private and AIM quoted companies.  He is 
Chairman of Diversified Energy Company PLC. 

G C Martin (79) is a non-executive director.  He is a Chartered Accountant who was 
previously Finance Director and Company Secretary of the Group.  He has extensive 
experience in takeovers and disposals and refinancing and restructuring proposals. 

In accordance with good corporate governance, all directors will retire and, being eligible, 
will offer themselves for re-election. 

The Company purchased and maintained throughout the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its directors. 

CEPS PLC 

Directors’ Report
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Significant shareholdings The following shareholders held more than 3% of the Company’s ordinary shares at 
2 May 2024: 

Shares % 
Charles Stanley & Co Ltd Rock (Nominees) Ltd 1 4 4,941,502 23.53 
D A Horner 2,534,834 12.07 
Barnard Nominees Ltd 2 1,959,541 9.33 
Lawshare Nominees 3 1,028,110 4.90 
Mrs M C Horner 5 1,000,000 4.76 
Altonover Enterprises Limited 1,000,000 4.76 
Ionic Investments SA 968,539 4.61 
1 Included within this holding are shares held on behalf of D A Horner and close family 

members.  Holdings are on behalf of D A Horner (1,455,338 shares, 6.93%) and on 
behalf of Mrs M C Horner (22,500 shares, 0.11%). 

2 Included within this holding are 1,086,328 shares held on behalf of D A Horner. 
3 Included within this holding are 689,376 shares of which M D Pollard is the beneficial 

owner, 3.28%. 
4 Included within this holding are shares held by M E Thistlethwayte and his family. 

M E Thistlethwayte holds personally and on behalf of his wife and children 2,410,000 
shares, 11.48%.  Mrs R Thistlethwayte holds 590,000 shares, 2.81%. 

5 The overall holding for Mrs M C Horner is 1,022,500 shares, 4.87%, being 1,000,000 
shares held personally and 22,500 shares held in Charles Stanley & Co Ltd Rock 
(Nominees) Ltd. 

The overall beneficial holding of the Horner family is 6,299,000 Ordinary Shares, 
representing 29.99% of the Company’s issued share capital. 

Financial and treasury policy The Group finances its operations by a combination of retained profits, management 
of working capital, debtor backed working capital facilities and medium-term loans. 
The disclosures for financial instruments are made in note 26a. 

For further details of Group financial risk and management thereof see note 2. 

No dividend was paid in 2023 (2022: £nil). 

Disclosure of information So far as each director is aware, there is no relevant information of which the Company’s 
to auditor auditor is unaware.  Relevant information is defined as ‘information needed by the 

Company’s auditor in connection with preparing their report’.  Each director has taken all 
the steps (such as making enquiries of other directors and the auditor and any other steps 
required by the director’s duty to exercise due care, skill and diligence) that he/she ought 
to have taken in his/her duty as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that 
information. 

Independent auditor Cooper Parry Group Limited was appointed as auditor for CEPS PLC on 5 December 
2018 and their re-appointment will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting. 

Statement of directors’ The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and financial statements in 
responsibilities accordance with applicable law and regulations. 
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Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  
Under that law the directors have prepared the Group and parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK adopted International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs).  Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of  
the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to: 

– select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

– make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

– state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the United Kingdom have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; 

– prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Company and the Group will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

The Company is compliant with the AIM Rule 26 regarding the Company’s website. 

Employees The Group employed 265 (2022: 265) employees at the year end. 

The Group’s policy is to actively involve its employees in the business to ensure that 
matters of concern to them, including the Group’s aims and objectives and the financial 
and economic factors which impact them are communicated in an open and regular 
manner. 

The directors are committed to delivering the highest standards of health and safety for 
employees, customers and others that might be affected by the Group’s activities. 

The Group is committed to employing the right people, training them well and promoting 
from within wherever possible.  Well trained and motivated employees are key to 
delivering good service to the Group’s customers and are fundamental to the long-term 
success of the business. 

The Group operates an equal opportunities policy that aims to treat individuals fairly and 
not to discriminate on the basis of sex, race, ethnic origin, disability or any other basis.  
Applications for employment are fully considered on their merits, and employees are 
given appropriate training and equal opportunities for career development and 
promotion. 

 

By order of the Board 
V E Langford 
Company Secretary 
2 May 2024
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It is the Board’s intention to comply with the QCA Corporate Governance Code for Small 
and Mid-Size Quoted Companies, as far as is reasonably practicable for a company of 
its size. 

The Board recognises that its decisions will impact the corporate culture of the Group 
and that this will affect the performance of the business.  The Board is also very 
conscious that the tone and culture that it sets will greatly impact all aspects of the Group 
and the way employees behave and operate.  The importance of sound ethical values 
and behaviours is crucial to the ability of the Group to successfully achieve its corporate 
objectives. 

The Board has regular interaction with Group company employees and monitors 
corporate culture in this way.  Additionally, it ensures its sound ethical practices and 
behaviours are deployed at Group company board meetings. 

The Group is also aware of its responsibilities for ensuring adherence to key internal and 
external policies including those relating to slavery, diversity, anti-corruption, bribery and 
whistleblowing. 

For details around how the Group applies specific principles of the Code please refer to 
the company’s website www.cepsplc.com.  The principal procedures are summarized 
below. 

The Board The Group is controlled through the Board of Directors which comprises two executive 
directors, the Chairman and the Finance Director, and two independent non-executive 
directors.  Further details of the Board members are given in the Directors’ Report on 
page 10. 

The Board sets the Group’s strategic aims and ensures that necessary resources are in 
place in order for the Group to meet its objectives.  All members of the Board take 
collective responsibility for the performance of the Group and all decisions are taken in 
the interests of the Group. 

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved to it and meets at least six times a 
year.  It is responsible for overall Group strategy, acquisition and disposal policy, approval 
of major capital expenditure and consideration of significant financing matters.  It 
monitors the exposure to key business risks and reviews the strategic direction of its 
trading businesses, their annual budgets  and their capital expenditure programmes.  
The Board also considers environmental and employee issues and key appointments. 

In the year to 31 December 2023 there were six formal Board meetings held and all 
directors were in attendance for all meetings.  In addition, there were two Audit 
Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee meetings and two Remuneration 
Committee meetings. 

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by the shareholders in 
accordance with the Articles of Association. 

The Company seeks constructive dialogue with shareholders and stakeholders.  The 
Board believes that the Annual Report and the Interim Report published at the half-year 
play an important part in presenting all shareholders with an assessment of the Group’s 
position and prospects.  The Annual General Meeting gives the opportunity for all 
shareholders to attend and ask questions. 

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance has been purchased by the Group during the 
year. 

The Board has established three committees: The Audit Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. 

CEPS PLC 

Corporate Governance

13
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Audit Committee This committee comprises G C Martin (Chair) and D E Johnson.  The audit committee is 
responsible for the appointment of the external auditor, agreeing the nature and scope of 
the audit and reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on matters related 
to the issue of financial information to the public.  It assists all directors in discharging 
their responsibility to ensure that accounting records are adequate and that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view. 

During the audit of the 2023 results the specific areas of audit risk considered were 
revenue recognition, management override of controls, and valuation of goodwill and 
intangibles.  From the work performed, there were no areas of concern highlighted. 

Nomination Committee This committee is comprised of D E Johnson (Chair) and D A Horner.  It is responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board on any appointment to the Board. 

Remuneration Committee This committee is comprised of D E Johnson (Chair) and G C Martin.  The remuneration 
committee sets the remuneration and other terms of employment of executive directors.  
Remuneration levels are set by reference to individual performance, experience and 
market conditions with a view to providing a package appropriate for the responsibilities 
involved. 

Directors’ contracts are designed to provide the assurance of continuity which the Company 
desires.  There are no provisions for pre-determined compensation on termination.  
Pensions for directors were based on salary alone and were provided by the Company 
defined contribution scheme and defined benefits scheme.  Contributions were paid to 
these schemes in accordance with independent actuarial recommendations or funding 
rates determined by the remuneration committee as appropriate to the type of scheme.  
From 2010 no benefits have accrued to directors under these schemes.  Non-executive 
directors have no service contracts and no pension contributions are made on their 
behalf. 

Internal financial control The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal financial control which is 
designed with regard to the size of the Company to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

Monthly management accounts are produced by the subsidiary companies which are 
reviewed and then summarised by the Group Finance Director on a monthly basis for 
distribution to and scrutiny by the Board.  The Group has a Financial Position and Prospects 
Procedures (‘FPPP’) which is reviewed and updated on a regular basis.  The FPPP deals 
with processes such a dual authorisation, forecasting and budgeting procedures and 
financial accounting procedures.  There is an annual budget which is approved by the 
directors.  The results are reported monthly and compared to the budget.  Any large financial 
transactions are approved by the whole Board and are subject to financial review regarding 
impact on CEPS PLC.  Cash flows are updated and forecasts are reviewed on a monthly 
basis. 

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the internal controls and has concluded that the 
internal financial control environment is appropriate, with no significant matters noted.  The 
organisational structure of the Group gives clear management responsibilities in relation to 
internal financial control.  The Audit Committee receives a report from the external auditors 
annually. 

Going concern The directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements for the reasons explained in the Strategic Report on pages 7 to 9.

CEPS PLC 

Corporate Governance  continued
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CEPS PLC 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of CEPS PLC

Opinion We have audited the financial statements of CEPS PLC (the ‘parent company’) and its 
subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2023 which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company 
Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow 
Statements, the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of 
the financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted international financial reporting 
standards. 

In our opinion: 

– the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the 
parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of the Group’s profit for the 
year then ended; 

– the Group and parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with UK adopted international reporting standards; and 

– the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report.  We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Our approach to the audit We adopted a risk-based audit approach.  We gained a detailed understanding of the 
Group’s business, the environment it operates in and the risks it faces.  The key elements 
of our audit approach were as follows: 

The audit team evaluated each component of the Group by assessing its materiality to 
the Group as a whole.  This was done by considering the percentage of total Group net 
assets, revenues and profit before taxes which each component represented. 

From this, we determined the significance of the component to the Group as a whole, 
and devised our planned audit response.  In order to address the audit risks described 
in the Key audit matters section which were identified during our planning process, 
we performed a full-scope audit of the financial statements of the parent company, 
CEPS PLC, and all of the Group’s material trading subsidiaries, providing 97% coverage 
of revenues, 97% of the Group’s net assets and 98% of the Group’s profit before tax. 

Key audit matters Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the 
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we 
identified, including those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the 
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 

15
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CEPS PLC 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of CEPS PLC  continued

Key audit matters  continued Revenue recognition 
The Group generates revenue from a number of streams as detailed in notes 1 and 4. 
Given the material nature of revenue and the variety of methods and segments it is 
generated through, the appropriateness of revenue recognition and management’s 
application of the Group’s revenue recognition accounting policies and key estimates 
made represent an area of significant judgement in the financial statements. 

Our response to the risk 
We have assessed accounting policies for consistency and appropriateness with 
the financial reporting framework and in particular that revenue was recognised 
when performance obligations were fulfilled.  In addition, we reviewed for the 
consistency of application as well as the basis of any recognition estimates. 

We have obtained an understanding of processes through which the businesses 
initiate, record, process and report revenue transactions. 

We performed walkthroughs of the processes as set out by management, to 
ensure controls appropriate to the size and nature of operations are designed and 
implemented correctly throughout the transaction cycle. 

We substantively tested products revenue recognised as a point in time and service 
revenue recognised over time to gain assurance over the completeness, existence 
and accuracy of reported revenue. 

We performed cut-off procedures on both product and service revenue to test 
transactions around the year end and verified a sample of revenue to originating 
documentation to provide evidence that transactions were recorded in the correct 
year, paying particular attention to services which span the financial year end. 

We reviewed manual entries posted to revenue to identify any unexpected entries. 

Our procedures did not identify any material misstatements in the revenue recognised 
during the year. 

Carrying value and impairment of goodwill 
The Group has a significant goodwill balance in relation to acquisitions made by 
management.  The Group’s assessment of carrying value requires significant judgement, 
in particular regarding cash flows, growth rates, discount rates and sensitivity 
assumptions. 

Our response to the risk 
We challenged the assumptions used in the impairment model for goodwill, which are 
described in note 18. 

We considered historical trading performance by comparing recent growth rates of 
both revenue and operating profit.  We assessed the appropriateness of the 
assumptions concerning growth rates and inputs to the discount rates against latest 
market expectations. 

We performed sensitivity analysis to determine whether an impairment would be 
required if actual growth is not in line with the forecast assumptions. 

Our procedures did not identify any material indication of impairment. 
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Our application of materiality The materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £445,000.  This 
has been determined with reference to the benchmark of the Group’s revenue which we 
consider to be an appropriate measure for a group of companies such as these.  
Materiality represents 1.5% of Group revenue as presented in the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  In determining the level of testing to be performed during our 
audit work, we applied performance materiality of £356,000. 

The materiality for the parent company financial statements as a whole was set at 
£410,000, capped at 90% of Group materiality.  This has been determined with reference 
to the parent company’s gross assets, which we consider to be an appropriate measure 
for a holding company with investments in trading subsidiaries.  Materiality represents 
10% of gross assets as presented on the face of the parent company’s Statement of 
Financial Position.  In determining the level of testing to be performed during our audit 
work, we applied performance materiality of £321,000. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the entity’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting included: 

– reviewing management’s cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date 
of approval of these financial statements; 

– assessing the reasonableness of management’s forecasts and assumptions and 
assessing remaining cash headroom within those forecasts; and 

– reviewing results post year end to the date of approval of these financial statements 
and assessing them against original budgets. 

From our work we noted that the Group has positive cash balances, and its forecasts 
support the directors’ assessment that the Group will continue to be able to meet its 
liabilities as they fall due. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months 
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our Auditor’s Report thereon.  The directors are 
responsible for the other information included in the Annual Report.  Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves or a material misstatement of the other information.  If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

CEPS PLC 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of CEPS PLC  continued

Conclusions relating to 
going concern
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CEPS PLC 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of CEPS PLC  continued

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

– the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

– the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements. 

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the parent company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

– adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns 
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

– the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or 

– certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

– we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of directors As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on pages 11 
and 12, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent 
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.  The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below: 

– our assessment focused on key laws and regulations the company has to comply 
with and areas of the financial statements we assessed as being more susceptible to 
missstatement.  These key laws and regulations included but were not limited to 
compliance with the Companies Act 2006, UK adopted international accounting 
standards, AIM Rules and relevant tax legislation. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements

Matters on which we are 
required to report by 
exception

Opinions on other matters 
prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
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CEPS PLC 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of CEPS PLC  continued

We are not responsible for preventing irregularities.  Our approach to detect irregularities 
included, but was not limited to, the following: 

– obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the 
Group and how the Group comply with that framework through discussions with 
directors and other management; 

– we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct 
material effect on the financial statements of the operations of the Group, including 
Companies Act 2006, UK adopted international accounting standards and relevant 
tax legislation; 

– assessing the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above 
through making enquiries of management of the policies and procedures in place, and 
inspecting legal correspondence where applicable; 

– we assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including obtaining an understanding of how fraud might occur, by: 

– making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was 
susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of actual, suspected and alleged fraud; 
and 

– considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations; 

– designed our audit procedures to respond to our risk assessment; and 

– to address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we: 

– tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions; 

– investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions outside the 
normal course of business; 

– reviewed revenue and bank nominal codes for indication of management 
override; and 

– assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the 
accounting estimates set out in note 3 were indicative of potential bias, 
specifically surrounding the impairment of intangible assets and revenue 
recognition. 

Whilst considering how our audit work addressed the detection of irregularities, we also 
consider the likelihood of detection based on our approach.  Irregularities arising from 
fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than those arising from error. 

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all 
irregularities, including those leading to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or non-compliance with regulation.  This risk increases the more that 
compliance with law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflected 
in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of non-compliance.  
The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, as 
fraud involves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.  
We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect 
non-compliance with all laws and regulations. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our Auditor’s 
Report. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements  continued
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CEPS PLC 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of CEPS PLC  continued

Use of our report This report is made solely to the parent company’s members, as a body, in accordance 
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the parent company’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the parent company and the parent company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we formed. 

 

Melanie Hopwell (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
 
for and on behalf of Cooper Parry Group Limited 
Statutory Auditor 
Sky View, Argosy Road, East Midlands Airport, Castle Donington, Derby DE74 2SA 
2 May 2024
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2023) 2022) 
Notes £’000) £’000) 

Revenue 4 29,675) 26,449)  
Cost of sales (17,187) (15,538) 

) )  
Gross profit 12,488) 10,911) 
Other operating income 5 7) 47) 
Exceptional income and expenses 5 137) –) 

Administration expenses (10,086) (8,835) 
) ) 

Operating profit 5 2,546) 2,123) 

Analysis of operating profit 
Trading 2,875) 2,523) 
Group net costs (329) (400) 

) ) 
2,546) 2,123) 

 
Share of associate loss 19 –) (66) 
Finance income 10 38) 27) 
Finance costs 10 (793) (738) 

) ) 
Profit before tax 1,791) 1,346) 
Taxation 11 (567) (270) 

) ) 
Profit for the financial year 1,224) 1,076) 

) ) 
Other comprehensive income: 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans 9 13) 54) 

) ) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 13) 54) 

) ) 
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 1,237) 1,130) 

) ) 
Income attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 556) 460) 
Non-controlling interests 668) 616) 

) ) 
1,224) 1,076) 

) ) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  
Owners of the parent 569) 514) 
Non-controlling interests 668) 616) 

) ) 
1,237) 1,130) 

) ) 
Earnings per share 

basic and diluted (pence) 13 2.65p) 2.19p) 
) ) 

All activity relates to continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 27 to 72 form part of the financial statements.
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CEPS PLC  Year ended 31 December 2023 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
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CEPS PLC  Year ended 31 December 2023 

Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position

Group Company 
2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 

Notes £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Assets Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 15 974) 671) 19) –) 
Right-of-use assets 16 2,025) 1,694) –) –) 
Intangible assets 18 11,605) 11,728) –) –) 
Investments 19 –) –) 3,333) 3,274) 

) ) ) ) 
14,604) 14,093) 3,352) 3,274) 

) ) ) ) 
Current assets 
Inventories 20 2,388) 2,138) –) –) 
Trade and other receivables 21 4,837) 4,006) 1,806) 1,604) 
Cash and cash equivalents 

(excluding bank overdrafts) 22 916) 1,284) 185) 256) 
) ) ) ) 

8,141) 7,428) 1,991) 1,860) 
) ) ) ) 

Total assets 22,745) 21,521) 5,343) 5,134) 
) ) ) ) 

Equity Capital and reserves attributable 
to owners of the parent 
Called up share capital 28 2,100) 2,100) 2,100) 2,100) 
Share premium 28 7,017) 7,017) 7,017) 7,017) 
Retained earnings (6,931) (7,526) (9,503) (9,393) 

) ) ) ) 
2,186) 1,591) (386) (276) 

Non-controlling interests in equity 3,407) 2,924) –) –) 
) ) ) ) 

Total equity 5,593) 4,515) (386) (276) 
) ) ) ) 

Liabilities Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings 25 6,889) 8,367) 4,950) 4,950) 
Lease liabilities 25 1,721) 1,522) –) –) 
Trade and other payables 23 60) 208) –) –) 
Provisions 27 400) –) 400) –) 
Deferred tax liability 27 372) 338) –) –) 

) ) ) ) 
9,442) 10,435) 5,350) 4,950) 

) ) ) ) 
Current liabilities 
Borrowings 25 2,178) 1,487) 192) 192) 
Lease liabilities 25 449) 313) –) –) 
Trade and other payables 23 3,683) 3,325) 184) 263) 
Current tax liabilities 24 1,400) 1,446) 3) 5) 

) ) ) ) 
7,710) 6,571) 379) 460) 

) ) ) ) 
Total liabilities 17,152) 17,006) 5,729) 5,410) 

) ) ) ) 
Total equity and liabilities 22,745) 21,521) 5,343) 5,134) 

) ) ) ) 

The comprehensive expense within the parent company financial statements for the year 
was a loss of £110,000 (2022: loss of £24,000). 

The notes on pages 27 to 72 form part of the financial statements. 

The financial statements on pages 21 to 72 were approved by the Board of Directors on 
2 May 2024 and signed on its behalf by 

 

D A Horner 
Director
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CEPS PLC  Year ended 31 December 2023 

Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flows

 
2023) 2022) 

Notes £’000) £’000) 

Group Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit for the financial year 1,224) 1,076) 

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 821) 719) 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 21) 6) 
Pension contributions less than administrative charge 50) 69) 
Share of associate loss –) 66) 
Net finance costs 755) 711) 
Taxation charge 567) 270) 

Changes in working capital: 
Movement in inventories 20 (250) (518) 
Movement in trade and other receivables 21 (965) (970) 
Movement in trade and other payables 23 652) 301) 
Movement in provisions 27 400) –) 

) ) 
Cash generated from operations 3,275) 1,730) 
Corporation tax paid (450) (61) 

) ) 
Net cash generated from operations 2,825) 1,669) 

) ) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received 1) 12) 
Acquisition of businesses and subsidiaries  

including deferred consideration paid 17 (320) (611) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (610) (120) 
Proceeds from sale of assets 70) 3) 
Purchase of intangible assets 18 (80) (75) 
Purchase of loan notes in subsidiary from holder (57) –) 

) ) 
Net cash used in investing activities (996) (791) 

) ) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Purchase of subsidiary shares from minority holders (2) –) 
Proceeds from borrowings 502) 396) 
Repayment of borrowings (1,253) (773) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (157) (157) 
Interest paid (889) (815) 
Lease liability payments (398) (326) 

) ) 
Net cash used in financing activities (2,197) (1,675) 

) ) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (368) (797) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,284) 2,081) 

) ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 22 916) 1,284)

) ) 

Major non-cash movements: there were £733,000 of non-cash additions to right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities in the year (2022: £807,000 of non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities). 

The notes on pages 27 to 72 form part of the financial statements.
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CEPS PLC  Year ended 31 December 2023 

Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flows

 
2023) 2022) 

Notes £’000) £’000) 

Company Cash flows from operating activities 
Loss for the financial year (123) (78) 

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 4) –) 
Pension contributions less than administrative charge 50) 69) 
Dividends (193) (193) 
Net finance income (67) (59) 

Changes in working capital: 
Movement in trade and other receivables 21 (391) (21) 
Movement in trade and other payables 23 43) 35) 
Movement in provisions 27 400) –) 

) ) 
Cash used in operations (277) (247) 

) ) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received 318) 456) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (23) –) 
Dividends received 193) 193) 
Investment in subsidiary share capital 19 (2) –) 
Purchase of loan notes in subsidiary from holder (57) –) 
Loan repayment from subsidiary company 189) –) 
Loans to subsidiary companies –) (450) 

) ) 
Net cash generated from investing activities 618) 199) 

) ) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Interest paid (412) (164) 

) ) 
Net cash used in financing activities (412) (164) 

) ) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (71) (212) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 256) 468) 

) ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 22 185) 256) 

) ) 

The notes on pages 27 to 72 form part of the financial statements.
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                 Attributable) 
to owners) Non-) 

Share) Retained) of the) controlling) Total) 
Share capital) premium) earnings) parent) interest) equity) 

£'000) £'000) £'000) £'000) £'000) £'000) 

Group At 1 January 2022 2,100) 7,017) (8,040) 1,077) 2,465) 3,542) 
) ) ) ) ) ) 

Actuarial gain –) –) 54) 54) –) 54) 
Profit for the year –) –) 460) 460) 616) 1,076) 

) ) ) ) ) ) 
Total comprehensive income 

for the financial year –) –) 514) 514) 616) 1,130) 
) ) ) ) ) ) 

Dividends paid in respect of 
non-controlling interests –) –) –) –) (157) (157) 

) ) ) ) ) ) 
Total amounts recognised 

directly in equity –) –) –) –) (157) (157) 
) ) ) ) ) ) 

At 31 December 2022 2,100) 7,017) (7,526) 1,591) 2,924) 4,515) 
) ) ) ) ) ) 

Actuarial gain –) –) 13) 13) –) 13) 
Profit for the year –) –) 556) 556) 668) 1,224) 

) ) ) ) ) ) 
Total comprehensive income 

for the financial year –) –) 569) 569) 668) 1,237) 
) ) ) ) ) )

Changes in ownership 
interest in subsidiaries –) –) 26) 26) (27) (1) 

) ) ) ) ) ) 
Dividends paid in respect of 

non-controlling interests –) –) –) –) (158) (158) 
) ) ) ) ) ) 

At 31 December 2023 2,100) 7,017) (6,931) 2,186) 3,407) 5,593) 
) ) ) ) ) ) 

Share capital comprises the nominal value of shares subscribed for. 

Share premium represents the amount above nominal value received for shares issued, 
less transaction costs. 

Retained earnings comprise accumulated comprehensive income for the current year 
and prior periods attributable to the parent, less dividends paid. 

Non-controlling interest represents the element of retained earnings which is not attributable 
to the owners of the parent. 

The notes on pages 27 to 72 form part of the financial statements.
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CEPS PLC  Year ended 31 December 2023 

Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity 

Share) Retained) Total) 
Share capital) premium) earnings) equity) 

£'000) £'000) £'000) £'000) 

Company At 1 January 2022 2,100) 7,017) (9,369) (252) 
 

Loss for the financial year –) –) (78) (78) 
Actuarial gain –) –) 54) 54) 

) ) ) ) 
Total comprehensive loss 

for the financial year –) –) (24) (24) 
 
At 31 December 2022 2,100) 7,017) (9,393) (276) 

) ) ) ) 

 
Loss for the financial year –) –) (123) (123) 
Actuarial gain –) –) 13) 13) 

) ) ) ) 
Total comprehensive loss 

for the financial year –) –) (110) (110) 

At 31 December 2023 2,100) 7,017) (9,503) (386) 
) ) ) ) 

The notes on pages 27 to 72 form part of the financial statements. 
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CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 

Notes to the Financial Statements

1.  Accounting policies CEPS PLC (the ‘Company’) is a company incorporated and domiciled in England and 
Wales.  The Company is a public company limited by shares, which is admitted to trading 
on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  The address of the registered office 
is 11 Laura Place, Bath BA2 4BL. 

The principal activities of the Company are that of a holding company for service and 
manufacturing companies, acquiring stakes in stable, profitable and steadily growing 
entrepreneurial companies.  The activities of the Company’s trading subsidiaries are 
described in note 19.  Segmental analysis is given in note 4. 

The financial statements are presented in British Pounds Sterling (£), the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Group’s activities are operated and are 
reported in £’000.  The Group comprises CEPS PLC and its subsidiary companies as set 
out in note 19.  The financial statements are to the year ended 31 December 2023 
(2022: year ended 31 December 2022). 

The registered number of the Company is 00507461. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied 
throughout the year, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of preparation 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the 
historical cost convention in accordance with UK adopted International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), IFRIC interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 as 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and 
under the historical cost convention.  The Group’s business activities and financial 
position likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in 
the front end of the report. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in 
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 3. 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under the Companies Act 2006 not 
to present its own Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Information about the Company 
result for the year is given in note 14. 

Standards and interpretations 

The Group has not adopted any new standards, or new provisions of amended 
standards, in these financial statements. 

There are no new standards, interpretations and amendments which are not yet effective 
in these financial statements, expected to have a material effect on the Group’s future 
financial statements. 
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Going concern 
The directors have considered the trading performance and financial position of the 
Company and of the Group together with detailed forecasts for the period to the end of 
2025.  The Aford Awards Group Holdings, Signature Fabrics and Hickton Group sub-
groups service their bank and shareholder held debt from cash generated in the trading 
subsidiaries which are trading profitably.  The Group is generating cash from operations 
with significant headroom in the banking covenants and mitigating actions could be 
taken to compensate for the current inflationary pressures and a degree of fluctuation in 
the economy.  The Company had cash balances at 31 December 2023 and is receiving 
interest and fees from the trading subsidiary groups. 

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company 
and the Group have adequate resources to operate and to meet liabilities for the 
foreseeable future.  Accordingly, the going concern basis of preparation continues to be 
adopted in the financial statements. 

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’). 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as 
the parent company using consistent accounting policies.  Control is achieved where the 
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
entity and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over the investee. 
Control is lost when the Group no longer has rights to variable returns from its 
involvement with an investee entity and no longer has the ability to affect those returns 
as it no longer has power over the investee.  When control is lost the subsidiaries are 
de-recognised and no longer consolidated. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition 
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.  For subsidiaries entering 
administration the disposal date is taken to be the date the administrator is appointed. 

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business 
combinations.  The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair 
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by 
the Group.  The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration agreement.  Acquisition related costs are 
expensed as incurred.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date.  On an acquisition by acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill.  If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Entities in which the Group has a participating interest and over whose operating and 
financial policies the Group exercises significant influence are treated as associates.  
Associates are accounted for using the equity method and subject to impairment. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.  Acquisition related 
costs are expensed as incurred.  Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration 
arising from contingent consideration amendments within the relevant adjustment period. 

CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 

Notes to the Financial Statements  continued

1.  Accounting policies 
1.  continued
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
Group companies are eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated.  Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group. 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions; that is, as transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners.  The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.  
Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

Segmental reporting 
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products 
or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other 
business segments.  A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or 
services within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns 
that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments. 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-maker, the Board, and used to assess 
performance.  Information is given for all operating segments where discrete financial 
information is available. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific 
performance obligations have been met.  The Group bases its estimate of return on 
historical results, taking into account the customer type, transaction type and the 
specifics of each arrangement. 

The revenues of Aford Awards, Friedman’s and Milano International arise from the fair 
values received or receivable for goods sold which are recognised on delivery and exclude 
VAT. 

The revenues of the Hickton Group subsidiary companies are recognised in the 
accounting period in which the services are provided by reference to the performance 
obligations satisfied by the year end date, measured by applying the percentage of costs 
incurred to the total revenue.  Performance obligations are clearly defined within each 
customer contract. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at initial cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.  Cost includes the original price of the asset and the costs attributable 
to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated on an appropriate basis over the deemed useful economic life 
of an asset and is applied to the cost less any residual value.  The asset classes are 
depreciated over the following periods (the useful life, the residual value and the 
depreciation method are assessed annually): 

Plant and machinery Between five and 10 years or between 15% to 
33% on a reducing balance basis 

Motor vehicles: Between three and five years straight line, or 
25% reducing balance 

Leasehold property improvements: Over the term of the lease on a straight line 
basis 

CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 
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CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 

Notes to the Financial Statements  continued

1.  Accounting policies 
1.  continued

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each date 
of the Statement of Financial Position. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the 
carrying amount and are recognised within administration expenses in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income during the period in which they are incurred. 

Intangible assets 
a)  Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over 
the fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired.  If the total consideration transferred, non-controlling 
interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair 
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognised directly in equity. 

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is allocated 
to appropriate cash generating units (those expected to benefit from the business 
combination) and is not amortised, but is tested for impairment at the operating segment 
level. 

b)  Customer lists 
Customer lists acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date.  Customer lists are assessed to have an estimated life of six to eight 
years.  Impairment reviews are undertaken annually or if changes in circumstances 
indicate a potential impairment. 

c)  Computer software and websites 
Computer software and costs incurred in the development of websites are stated at 
cost less accumulated amortisation.  Non-integral computer software purchases are 
capitalised at cost.  These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (between 
three and 10 years).  Costs associated with implementing or maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Costs incurred in the development of new websites are capitalised only where the cost 
can be directly attributed to developing the website to operate in the manner intended 
by management and only to the extent of the future economic benefits expected from its 
use.  These costs are amortised over their useful lives (between three and five years).  
Costs associated with maintaining websites are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

 
d)  Licences for the distribution of certain products 
Licences for the distribution of certain products are amortised evenly over three years. 

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, but are 
reviewed for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Assets that are subject to 
amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
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costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units).  Any impairment losses relating to goodwill are not reversed. 

Investments 
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost, which reflects the fair value 
of the consideration paid.  The investments are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Raw materials are 
valued on a first in first out basis at net invoice values charged by suppliers.  The value 
of work in progress and finished goods includes the direct cost of materials and labour 
together with an appropriate proportion of factory overheads, where applicable.  This is 
derived, where considered to be materially accurate, from selling prices less gross 
margins achieved.  Provision is made against the value of inventory, where relevant, to 
reduce the carrying value of slow moving, obsolete and defective inventory to its net 
realisable value. 

Current and deferred taxation 
The tax charge for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  The current income tax 
charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
date of the Statement of Financial Position in the countries where the Company’s 
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.  Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  However, the deferred income tax is 
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the Statement 
of Financial Position and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax 
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be generated enabling the utilisation of the temporary timing differences. 

Foreign currencies 
The results are recorded in British Pounds Sterling which is deemed to be the functional 
currency of the Group, the Company and all its subsidiaries. 

Foreign currency transactions are expressed in Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at 
the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the year end are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the date of 
the Statement of Financial Position.  Differences arising from changes in exchange rates 
during the year are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Pensions 
The Group operated a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of some of its 
former employees, the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group in 
independently administered funds. 

Pension scheme assets are measured using market value.  Pension scheme liabilities are 
measured using the projected unit actuarial method and are discounted at the current 

CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 
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CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 

Notes to the Financial Statements  continued

1.  Accounting policies 
1.  continued

rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent terms and currency to the 
liability.  The increase in the present value of the liabilities of the Group’s defined benefit 
pension schemes expected to arise from employee service in the period is charged to 
operating profit.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and 
changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Pension scheme surpluses are only recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
when the Group has an unconditional right to the refund of surpluses under the scheme. 

Defined benefit pension costs are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged 
to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.  The Group has 
no further payment obligations once contributions have been paid. 

Discontinued operations 
In the event of a sale or administration of a material element of the Group’s operations in 
the year the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income discloses the separate 
results of the continued and discontinued operations as well as the totals.  The 
comparative results are also restated on this basis and an analysis of the disposal assets, 
liabilities and consideration received is included in the notes. 

Exceptional items 
Exceptional items are transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group, but 
are presented separately due to their size or incidence. 

Leases 
Under IFRS 16, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability 
at the date at which the leased asset is first available for use by the Group. 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured at the present value of the 
lease payments and payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options 
are also included in the measurement of the liability.  The lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or the incremental borrowing rate that the 
lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset with similar 
terms, security and conditions. 

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance cost.  The finance 
cost is charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income over the lease 
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability for each period.  The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

Short term rentals payable under operating leases continue to be charged to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

Non-controlling interest 
Non-controlling interests represent the interest of shareholders in subsidiaries which are 
not wholly owned by the Group. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  continued

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be 
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The 
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

Further details on provisions recognised are disclosed in note 27. 

Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity while redeemable preference shares are classified 
as liabilities (see note 28). 

Financial instruments 
The Group and Company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on 
initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

Financial instruments are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position at fair value 
when the Group and Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

a)  Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services 
performed in the ordinary course of business.  If collection is expected in one year or less 
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current 
assets.  If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  A provision for impairment of trade receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.  Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.  The amount of the provision 
is the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its estimated future cash 
flow.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a bad debt 
provision and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income within cost of sales.  When a trade receivable is uncollectible it 
is written off against the bad debt provision.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against cost of sales in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

b)  Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, short-term bank deposits held at call 
and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown in current liabilities as borrowings.  All 
are carried at cost in the Statement of Financial Position. 

c)  Trade payables 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business.  Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if 
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business 
if longer).  If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Trade payables includes trade 
payables, other payables and accruals. 

1.  Accounting policies 
1.  continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements  continued

d)  Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Borrowings 
include bank overdrafts, bank loans, other loans, trade receivables backed working 
capital facilities and hire purchase obligations. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the date of the Statement 
of Financial Position. 

e)  Borrowing costs 
The Group has no borrowing costs with respect to the acquisition or construction of 
qualifying assets.  All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense as incurred 
and in accordance with the effective interest rate methods. 

1.  Accounting policies 
1.  continued
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2.1  Financial risk factors 
The Group and Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk 
(including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.  The Group and Company’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

a)  Market risk 
i)   Foreign exchange risk 
The Group undertakes transactions internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange 
risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Euro and US 
Dollar and Sterling.  Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions 
and recognised assets and liabilities. 

Management has a policy to require Group companies to manage their foreign exchange 
risk against their functional currency.  The policy is to match as far as possible through 
the normal course of trade the level of sales and purchases in foreign currencies and, 
where applicable, to enter forward foreign exchange contracts as hedges of foreign 
exchange risk on specific assets, liabilities or future transactions. 

ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group’s income and 
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings.  All lease liabilities reflect 
fixed interest rates.  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow 
interest rate risk.  Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest 
rate risk. 

Group policy is to maintain an appropriate balance between borrowings expressed in 
fixed rates and those at variable rates.  All of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in 
Sterling.  The strategy of CEPS PLC is as far as possible to use the assets of businesses 
in which it makes investments to secure the necessary borrowings for those investments. 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Fixed rate instruments 
Liabilities 7,407) 7,717) 

) ) 
 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Floating rate instruments 
Liabilities 1,660) 2,138) 

) ) 
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2.1  Financial risk factors  continued 

b)  Credit risk 
The Group is exposed to the credit risk inherent in non-payment by either its customers 
or the counterparties of its financial instruments.  The Group utilises credit insurance 
policies to mitigate its risk from some of its trading exposure, especially in overseas 
markets, and in all cases seeks satisfactory references and the best possible terms of 
payment.  It mitigates its exposure on financial instruments by only using instruments 
from banks and financial institutions with a minimum rating of ‘A-1+’. 

c)  Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and having 
available an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s available liquidity on the basis of 
expected future cash flows.  Forecasts are generated in the first instance at local level in 
the operating subsidiaries of the Group. 

 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the date of the statement of financial position to the 
contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.  Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances 
as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
Less than Between Between  

1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years Over 5 years 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 31 December 2023 
Trade and other payables 2,796 60 – – 
Other loans 1,318 6,134 627 – 
Bank loans 244 146 96 297 
IFRS 16 lease liability 553 515 1,041 372 
Overdrafts and trade receivables 

backed working capital facilities 1,080 – – – 
 

5,991 6,855 1,764 669 
 

 
At 31 December 2022 
Trade and other payables 2,645 208 – – 
Other loans 941 3,741 4,160 – 
Bank loans 1,141 815 221 319 
IFRS 16 lease liability 402 361 877 498 
Overdrafts and trade receivables  

backed working capital facilities 578 – – – 
 

5,707 5,125 5,258 817 
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2.2  Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital (being the equity and reserves of the 
Group) are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may pay dividends to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce 
debt. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.  This ratio measures net 
debt as a proportion of total equity as shown in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2023 were as follows: 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Total borrowings 6,942) 7,420) 
Less: cash (916) (1,284) 

) ) 
Net debt 6,026) 6,136) 

) ) 
Total equity 5,593) 4,515) 

) ) 
Gearing ratio 108%) 136%) 

In order to provide a more meaningful gearing ratio, total borrowings have been revised 
to be the sum of bank borrowings and third party debt, excluding loan notes used to 
finance the Group’s acquisitions.  The prior year comparatives are also calculated on this 
basis. 

 

2.3  Fair value estimation 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values.  The fair value of the financial liabilities for 
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current interest rate. 

The fair values of all financial assets and liabilities approximate to their carrying values. 
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3.  Critical accounting 
3.  assumptions, judgements 
3.  and estimates

The directors make estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  They are also 
required to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are assessed below: 

 
a)  Impairment of intangible assets (including goodwill) 
The Group tests annually whether intangible assets (including goodwill) have suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1.  The recoverable 
amounts of the cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use 
calculations.  The calculations require the use of estimates (note 18). 

b)  Impairment of non-current assets 
The Company assesses the impairment of tangible fixed assets subject to depreciation 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.  Factors considered important that could trigger an impairment review 
include the following: 

– significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results; 

– significant changes in the manner of the use of the acquired assets or the strategy for 
the overall business; and 

– significant negative industry or economic trends. 

c)  Depreciation and residual values 
The directors have reviewed the asset lives and associated residual values of all fixed 
asset classes and have concluded that asset lives and residual values are appropriate. 

The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary 
depending on a number of factors.  In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as 
technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into 
account.  Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, 
the remaining life of the asset and projects’ disposal values. 

d)  Carrying value of stocks 
Management reviews the market value of and demand for its stocks on a periodic basis 
to ensure stock is recorded in the financial statements at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.  Any provision for impairment is recorded against the carrying value of 
stocks.  Management uses its knowledge of market conditions, historical experiences 
and estimates of future events to assess future demand for the Company’s products and 
achievable selling prices. 

e)  Recoverability of trade debtors 
Trade and other debtors are recognised to the extent that they are judged recoverable.  
Management reviews are performed to estimate the level of reserves required for 
irrecoverable debt.  Provisions are made specifically against invoices where recoverability 
is uncertain. 

Management makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the 
recoverability of debtors.  Allowances are applied to debtors where events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.  Management 
specifically analyses historical bad debts, customer creditworthiness, current economic 
trends and changes in customer payment terms when making a judgement to evaluate 
the adequacy of the provision for doubtful debts.  Where the expectation is different from 
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of debtors and the 
charge in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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f)  Leases 
Management utilise judgement in respect of any option clauses in leases and whether 
such an option to extend would be reasonably certain to be exercised.  Management 
consider all facts and circumstances including past practice, costs of alternatives and 
future forecasts to determine the lease term.  Management also apply judgement and 
estimation in assessing the discount rate, which is based on the incremental borrowing 
rate.  These judgements impact on the lease term and associated lease liabilities. 

g)  Recognition of revenue in respect of services and change in accounting estimate 
Revenue is recognised in the period in which the services are provided in accordance 
with the stage of completion of the contract.  This requires a degree of estimation in 
respect of the stage of completion and time required to complete the services, but is 
based on experience and data from completed services. 

In the prior year ended 31 December 2022, the directors recognised that the previous 
estimates in a subsidiary were too prudent by reference to actual outcomes and the 
specific tasks to be completed and applied a revised method with increased reference to 
experience and the expected costs as services progress.  This was treated as a change 
in accounting estimate and application of the new method resulted in a reduction in 
deferred income and increase in revenue of £681,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022, 
of which £363,000 related to income which would not have been deferred at 
31 December 2021 under the new method and a further £318,000 recognised for 
services that commenced in 2022. 

h)  Acquisitions 
Fair values have been applied on the acquisition of businesses which involve a degree of 
judgement and estimation, in particular in the identification and evaluation of intangible 
assets including customer relationships.  The values recognised are derived from 
discounted cash flow forecasts and assumptions based on experience and estimated 
factors relevant to the nature of the business activity. 

Where contingent consideration arises in respect of acquisitions, the best estimate of 
further payments to be made is accrued.  The actual trading results may result in different 
amounts being payable and subsequent adjustments to the deferred consideration.

3.  Critical accounting 
3.  assumptions, judgements 
3.  and estimates  continued
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4.  Segmental analysis The Chief Operating Decision-Maker (‘CODM’) of the Group is its Board.  Each operating 
segment regularly reports its performance to the Board which, based on those reports, 
allocates resources to and assesses the performance of those operating segments. 

The operating segments set out below are the only level for which discrete information is 
available or utilised by the CODM. 

Operating segments and their principal activities are as follows: 

Aford Awards, a sports trophy and engraving company; 

Friedman’s, a convertor and distributor of specialist lycra, including Milano International 
(trading as Milano Pro-Sport), a designer and manufacturer of leotards; 

Hickton Group, comprising Hickton Quality Control, Cook Brown, Morgan Lambert and 
Qualitas Compliance, providers of services to the construction industry. 

Group costs, costs incurred at Head Office level to support the activities of the Group. 

The United Kingdom is the main country of operation from which the Group derives its 
revenue and operating profit and is the principal location of the assets and liabilities of 
the Group. 
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The Board assesses the performance of each operating segment by a measure of 
adjusted earnings before interest, tax, Group costs, depreciation, amortisation and, 
when applicable, exceptional costs (EBITDA).  Other information provided to the Board 
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements. 

i)  Results by segment 

Aford) Hickton) 
Awards) Friedman’s) Group) Total) 

2023) 2023) 2023) 2023) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Revenue 3,476) 6,826) 19,373) 29,675)
) ) ) ) 

Expenses (2,920) (5,759) (17,304) (25,983)  
 
Segmental result (EBITDA) 556) 1,067) 2,069) 3,692) 

) ) ) ) 
Depreciation and amortisation charge (142) (208) (125) (475) 
IFRS 16 depreciation (75) (168) (99) (342) 
Group costs (329) 
Net finance costs (including IFRS 16) (755) 

) 
Profit before taxation 1,791) 
Taxation (567) 

) 
Profit for the year 1,224) 

) 

 

Aford) Hickton) 
Awards) Friedman’s) Group) Total) 

2022) 2022) 2022) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Revenue 3,086) 6,423) 16,940) 26,449) 
) ) ) ) 

Expenses (2,540) (5,526) (15,140) (23,206) 
Segmental result (EBITDA) 546) 897) 1,800) 3,243) 

) ) ) ) 
Depreciation and amortisation charge (115) (183) (117) (415) 
IFRS 16 depreciation (75) (129) (100) (304) 
Group costs (400) 
Share of associate profit (66) 
Net finance costs (including IFRS 16) (712) 

) 
Profit before taxation 1,346) 
Taxation (270) 

) 
Profit for the year 1,076) 

) 
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ii)  Assets and liabilities by segment as at 31 December 

                                               Segment assets            Segment liabilities        Segment net assets 
2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

CEPS Group 626) 286) (5,729) (5,410) (5,103) (5,124) 
Aford Awards 3,828) 4,014) (1,769) (2,170) 2,059) 1,844) 
Friedman’s 7,872) 7,575) (2,709) (2,244) 5,163) 5,331) 
Hickton Group 10,419) 9,646) (6,945) (7,182) 3,474) 2,464) 

) ) ) ) ) ) 
Total – Group 22,745) 21,521) (17,152) (17,006) 5,593) 4,515) 

) ) ) ) ) ) 

 

iii)  Revenue by geographical destination 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

UK 27,943) 24,782) 
Europe 1,265) 1,113) 
Rest of world 467) 554) 

) ) 
29,675) 26,449) 

) ) 
 

iv)  Revenue by nature 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Products – recognised at a point in time 10,302) 9,509) 
Services – recognised over time delivered 19,373) 16,940) 

) ) 
29,675) 26,449) 

) ) 
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2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting): 
In other operating income: 
Rent receivable (7) (35) 
In administration expenses: 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 21) 6) 
Exchange (gains)/losses (6) 32) 
Short term operating lease rentals 300) 167) 
Acquisition expenses 16) 16) 
Exceptional pension credit (note 9) (537) –) 
Exceptional dilapidations provision (note 27) 400) –) 
 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Expenses by nature 
Raw materials and consumables 4,132) 3,984) 
Employee benefit expenses 11,703) 10,026) 
Depreciation on owned assets 216) 204) 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 402) 338) 
Amortisation of intangible assets 203) 177) 
Operating lease payments 300) 167) 
Other expenses 10,317) 9,477) 

) )
27,273) 24,373) 

) ) 
 

6.  Auditor’s remuneration 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit 

of the Company’s annual accounts 50) 45) 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates 

for other services: 
Audit of the accounts of subsidiaries 133) 120) 

) )
183) 165) 

Taxation compliance services to subsidiaries 30) 28) 
) )

Total fees 213) 193) 
) ) 

  

  

  

  

  

5.  Operating profit
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7.  Employees The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group during the year was: 

2023) 2022) 
Number) Number) 

Management and administration 98) 104) 
Production and sales 167) 161) 

) ) 
265) 265) 

) ) 

The aggregate costs of these persons were: 
2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Wages and salaries 10,188) 8,796) 
Social security costs 1,102) 832) 
Other pension costs (note 9) 413) 398) 

) ) 
11,703) 10,026) 

) ) 

Key management personnel are deemed to be members of the Board and local 
management in the Group and their compensation was as follows: 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Aggregate remuneration 1,649) 1,346) 
Aggregate pension contributions 157) 125) 

) ) 
1,806) 1,471) 

) ) 

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Company during the year was: 

2023) 2022) 
Number) Number) 

Management and administration 4) 4) 
) ) 

The aggregate costs of these persons were: 
2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Wages and salaries 136) 132) 
Social security costs 7) 9) 

) ) 
143) 141) 

) ) 
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8.  Directors’ emoluments 
8.  and interests

 
Salaries and fees

The aggregate remuneration of the directors was: 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Short-term employee benefits 136) 132) 
) ) 

The remuneration of the Chairman, D A Horner, and of the other directors who served 
during the year was: 

2023) 2022)  
£’000) £’000)  

D A Horner –) –)  
V E Langford 100) 96)  
G C Martin 18) 18)  
D E Johnson 18) 18) 

) )  
136) 132)  

) )  

G C Martin has a pension secured in the Group defined benefit scheme from which he is 
currently drawing.  He is not accruing any further additional benefit under this pension scheme. 

Of those directors who remain in office at the year end, their beneficial interests, including 
those of their families, in shares of the Group were: 

at 31 December 2023) at 31 December 2022) 
shares) shares) 

D A Horner (and close family) 6,299,000) 6,299,000) 
V E Langford 150,000) 150,000) 
G C Martin 10,000) 10,000) 
D E Johnson 250,000) 250,000) 

D A Horner's (and close family) shareholding is made up as follows: 

at 31 December 2023) at 31 December 2022) 
shares) shares) 

D A Horner 3,621,162) 3,621,162) 
Held by Charles Stanley & Co Ltd Rock 

(Nominees) Ltd on behalf of  
D A Horner's SIPP 1,320,838) 1,320,838) 

Held by Charles Stanley & Co Ltd Rock 
(Nominees) Ltd on behalf of D A Horner 84,500) 84,500) 

Held by Charles Stanley & Co Ltd Rock 
(Nominees) Ltd on behalf of  
D A Horner’s ISA 50,000) 50,000) 

Mrs M C Horner (wife) 1,000,000) 1,000,000) 
Held by Charles Stanley & Co Ltd Rock 

(Nominees) Ltd on behalf of  
Mrs M C Horner (wife) 22,500) 22,500) 

H R Horner (son) 100,000) 100,000) 
T A Horner (son) 100,000) 100,000) 

) ) 
6,299,000) 29.99% 6,299,000) 29.99% 

) ) 

The register of directors’ interests, which is open to inspection, contains full details of 
directors’ shareholdings.
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The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes.  The assets of the 
schemes are held in independently administered funds.  The pension cost charge 
represents contributions payable to the funds and amounted to £413,000 
(2022: £398,000).  At 31 December 2023 £66,000 (2022: £52,000) of pension 
contributions remain outstanding. 

The Group also operated a defined benefits scheme (Dinkie Heel Defined Benefit Pension 
Scheme).  The scheme was closed to new members in 1988.  The assets of the scheme 
were held separately from those of the Group in a deposit administration contract 
underwritten by an insurance company.  Contributions to the scheme were determined 
by a qualified external actuary on the basis of triennial valuations using, for accrued 
service, the ‘projected unit’ method and, for future service, the ‘attained age’ method.  
The most recent actuarial valuation was at 1 July 2019 and the main actuarial 
assumptions were investment returns of 2.0% before retirement and 2.0% after 
retirement.  The valuation showed that the total value of the scheme assets was 
£5,353,000 and that the level of funding on an ongoing basis was 117%.  Based on 
these results, no recovery plan was necessary. 

With effect from 28 July 2017 CEPS PLC transferred the Dinkie Heel Defined 
Benefit Pension Scheme from its former subsidiary, Davies Odell Limited, to CEPS PLC.  
This was an intra-Group transfer and there was no change in the overall liability of the 
CEPS Group.  CEPS PLC was the existing guarantor of the scheme. 

The Trustee of the scheme entered into a buy-in contract with Aviva in December 2021 
and this contract converted to a full buy-out policy in 2023.  It was agreed that the 
surplus is repaid to the Company and an amount of £403,000 net of tax and remaining 
expenses is expected to be paid to the Company after the year end.  This was included 
as an exceptional credit of £537,000 in comprehensive income and £403,000 in other 
debtors net of tax of £134,000 at 31 December 2023.  On 17 April 2024 an interim 
payment of £345,000 was paid to CEPS PLC. 

The Group commissioned an independent qualified actuary to update to 31 December 
2023 the results of the actuarial valuation at 1 July 2019.  This is required by accounting 
standards although any changes in assumptions would have no impact on the Group 
and the amount disclosed above represents the expected final realisation of the surplus.  
The results of the update are as follows: 

2023) 2022) 
Assumptions at 31 December 

Interest rate for discounting liabilities 4.30%) 4.80%) 
Expected return on plan assets 4.30%) 4.80%) 
RPI price inflation 3.40%) 3.20%) 
CPI price inflation 2.90%) 2.50%) 
Pensions increase 3.30%) 3.10%) 

Mortality pre and post retirement S3PxA) S3PxA) 
Improvements based on CMI 2022) CMI 2021) 

1.25%) 1.25%) 
Life expectancies (years) 
For a 65 year old male 21.4) 22.0) 
For a 65 year old female 23.9) 24.3) 
For a 65 year old male, currently aged 45 22.7) 23.3) 
For a 65 year old female, currently aged 45 25.3) 25.8) 

The expected return on plan assets has been determined by the current rate of return on 
the plan, less allowances for future uncertainties on the plan and an allowance for costs 
to be incurred in administering the plan. 

9.  Pension costs

CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 
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9.  Pension costs  continued The following amounts were measured in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19: 

2023) 2022)
£’000) £’000) 

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
are as follows: 

Fair value of plan assets 565) 3,389) 
Present value of defined benefit obligation –) (2,600) 
Actuarial surplus not recognised –) (789) 

) ) 
Net surplus (recognised in other debtors net of tax) 565) –) 

) ) 
The actuarial surplus arising on the defined benefit pension scheme was not previously 
recognised as the Group did not have an unconditional right to refunds of surpluses 
arising in the scheme. 

2023) 2022)
£’000) £’000) 

Included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive  
Income for the year 
Pension administrative expenses (50) (69) 
Pension scheme finance income 

Interest on obligation (122) (62) 
Interest income on plan assets 159) 77) 

) ) 
37) 15) 

) ) 
(13) (54) 

) ) 
Included in the Consolidated Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

Financial assumption actuarial (loss)/gain (135) 849) 
Experience loss on assets (76) (816) 
Buy-out related expenses –) (80) 
Movement in actuarial surplus not recognised 224) 101) 

) ) 
Total gain 13) 54) 

) ) 
Movement in Statement of Financial Position for the year 

Net pension liability at the start of the year –) –) 
Employer’s pension cost (13) (54) 
Other comprehensive income 13) 54) 

) ) 
Net pension liability at the end of the year –) –) 

) ) 
Reconciliation of the defined benefit obligation 

Defined benefit obligation at the start of the year 2,600) 3,546) 
Interest cost 122) 62) 
Actuarial loss/(gain) from changes in financial assumptions 135) (849) 
Benefits paid (117) (159) 
Settlements (2,740) –) 

) ) 
Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year –) 2,600) 

) ) 
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2023) 2022)
£’000) £’000) 

Reconciliation of plan assets 
Fair value of plan assets at the start of the year 3,389) 4,436) 
Expected return on plan assets 159) 77) 
Experience losses on assets (76) (816) 
Non investment expenses (50) (149) 
Benefits and expenses paid (117) (159) 
Settlements (2,740) –) 

)  
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 565) 3,389) 

) ) 

 

2023) 2022) 
Asset categories at the end of the year 

Cash 100.0%) 23.3%) 
Annuities 0.0%) 76.7%) 
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10.  Net finance costs 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Other interest receivable 1) 12) 
Pension scheme net finance income (note 9) 37) 15) 

) ) 
Total finance income 38) 27) 

) ) 
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 154) 114) 
Interest payable on other loans 476) 480) 
Other interest payable 13) 7) 
Amortisation of finance cost 21) 22) 
Lease liability financing charges 129) 115) 

) ) 
Total finance costs 793) 738) 

) ) 
Net finance costs 755) 711) 

) )
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11.  Taxation 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Analysis of taxation in the year: 
Current tax 
Tax on profits of the year 410) 295) 
Tax deducted at source on pension surplus 134) –) 
Tax in respect of prior years (11) (7) 

) ) 
Total current tax 533) 288) 

) ) 
Deferred tax 
Current year deferred tax movement 5) (34) 
Tax in respect of prior years 29) 16) 

) ) 
Total deferred tax 34) (18) 

) ) 
Total tax charge 567) 270) 

) ) 

The tax assessed for the year is higher (2022: higher) than the average standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK (23.5%) (2022: 19%). 

2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

Factors affecting current tax: 
Profit before taxation 1,791) 1,346) 

) ) 
Profit multiplied by the average standard rate of UK tax 

of 23.5% (2022: 19%) 421) 256) 
Effects of: 
Expenses not deductible 20) 39) 
Additional capital allowances (1) (9) 
Higher tax rate on pension credit 8) –) 
Adjustments to tax in prior periods 18) 9) 
Adjustments to deferred tax rate 2) (2) 
Deferred tax not recognised 99) (23) 

) ) 
Total tax charge 567) 270) 

) ) 

In May 2021 a change in rate to 25% from April 2023 was substantively enacted. 
The rate of 25% is accordingly applied to UK deferred taxation balances at 
31 December 2023 (2022: 25%). 

There are tax losses carried forward in the Company of approximately £1.5m 
(2022: £1.55m). 
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12.  Dividends No dividends were paid during the year (2022: £nil). 

 

13.  Earnings per share Basic earnings per share is calculated on the profit for the year after taxation 
attributable to the owners of the parent of £556,000 (2022: £460,000) and on 
21,000,000 (2022: 21,000,000) ordinary shares, being the weighted number in issue 
during the year. 

There are no potentially dilutive shares in the Group. 

 

14.  Loss of the holding Of the Group result for the year a loss of £110,000 (2022: loss of £24,000) is dealt with 
14.  company in the financial statement of CEPS PLC.  The directors have taken advantage of the 

exemption available under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented 
the results for the Company alone. 
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Leasehold) 
Freehold) property) Plant and) Motor) 
property) improvements) machinery) vehicles) Total) 

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

15.  Group Cost 
at 1 January 2022 –) 487) 766) 21) 1,274) 
Additions at cost –) –) 120) –) 120) 
Disposals –) –) (13) –) (13) 

) ) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2022 –) 487) 873) 21) 1,381) 
Additions at cost 398) 24) 188) –) 610) 
Disposals –) –) (143) (21) (164) 

) ) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2023 398) 511) 918) –) 1,827) 

) ) ) ) ) 
 

Accumulated depreciation 
at 1 January 2022 –) 234) 268) 8) 510) 
Charge for the year –) 42) 159) 3) 204) 
Disposals –) –) (4) –) (4) 

) ) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2022 –) 276) 423) 11) 710) 
Charge for the year 8) 46) 161) 1) 216) 
Disposals –) –) (61) (12) (73) 

) ) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2023 8) 322) 523) –) 853) 

) ) ) ) ) 
 

Net book amount 
at 31 December 2023 390) 189) 395) –) 974) 

) ) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2022 –) 211) 450) 10) 671) 

) ) ) ) ) 

 

15.  Company The Company purchased £23,000 of leasehold property improvements and incurred a 
depreciation charge of £4,000 in the year ended 31 December 2023 resulting in net book 
value of £19,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022: £nil).

    

    

    

    

    

    

  

   

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15.  Property, plant and 
15.  equipment
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16.  Right-of-use assets Leasehold) Plant and) Motor) 
property) machinery) vehicles) Total) 

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

16.  Group Cost 
At 1 January 2022 1,614) 197) –) 1,811) 
Additions at cost 753) 54) –) 807) 

) ) ) ) 
At 31 December 2022 2,367) 251) –) 2,618) 
Additions at cost 284) 252) 197) 733) 
Disposals at the end of the lease term (230) (11) –) (241) 

) ) ) ) 
At 31 December 2023 2,421) 492) 197) 3,110) 

) ) ) ) 
 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2022 532) 54) –) 586) 
Charge for the year 282) 56) –) 338) 

) ) ) ) 
At 31 December 2022 814) 110) –) 924) 
Charge for the year 314) 79) 9) 402) 
Disposals at the end of the lease term (230) (11) –) (241) 

) ) ) ) 
At 31 December 2023 898) 178) 9) 1,085) 

) ) ) ) 

Net book amount 
At 31 December 2023 1,523) 314) 188) 2,025) 

) ) ) ) 
At 31 December 2022 1,553) 141) –) 1,694) 

) ) ) ) 

At the year end, assets held under hire purchase contracts and capitalised as plant and 
machinery right-of-use assets have a net book value of £318,000 (2022: £97,000). 

The depreciation of £60,000 (2022: £33,000) in respect of these has been charged to 
cost of sales in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

16.  Company Throughout 2022 and 2023 the Company held no right-of-use assets.
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17.  Business combinations In 2023, deferred consideration of £320,000 was paid in respect of earlier acquisitions. 

17.  Business combinations Acquisition in 2022 of Impact Promotional Merchandise Limited 
On 12 April 2022, a subsidiary, Aford Awards Limited, acquired the trade and certain 
assets of Impact Promotional Merchandise Limited.  This supplies trophies, awards and 
medals together with customised promotional merchandise including mugs and clothing. 

The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  Fair 
value adjustments were made in respect of a website and customer relationships 
amounting to £420,000 together with a related deferred tax liability of £101,000. 

Goodwill of £681,000 arose from the acquisition primarily in respect of the ability to win 
further business including the business synergies and opportunities from being 
integrated into the company. 

Acquisition fees of £16,000 were incurred which have been expensed as an 
administrative cost in 2022. 

The following table shows the fair value of assets and liabilities included in the 
consolidated statements at the date of acquisition: 

Fair value)   
£’000) 

Identifiable assets and liabilities 
Intangible assets 420) 
Inventories 8) 
Deferred taxation (101) 

) 
327) 

)Goodwill 681) 
) 

1,008) 
)  

Consideration) 
Cash consideration paid at completion 558) 
Deferred consideration 450) 

) 
1,008) 

) 

The cash outflow at the date of acquisition was £558,000 with deferred consideration 
of £210,000 payable on 14 March 2023; £60,000 on 30 September 2023; £60,000 on 
31 March 2024; £60,000 on 30 September 2024 and £60,000 on 31 March 2025. 

The business contributed £864,000 of revenue for the eight months in 2022 after the 
acquisition date.  It is integrated into the overall Aford Awards business and generates 
similar margins. 

£53,000 of deferred consideration was also paid in 2022 in respect of businesses 
acquired in 2021. 
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Customer) 
relationship) 

Goodwill) assets) Other) Total) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

18.  Group Cost 
at 1 January 2022 10,646) 1,329) 357) 12,332) 
Additions at cost 681) 230) 265) 1,176) 
Disposals (385) (578) –) (963) 

) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2022 10,942) 981) 622) 12,545) 
Additions at cost –) –) 80) 80) 

) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2023 10,942) 981) 702) 12,625) 

) ) ) ) 

Accumulated amortisation and  
impairment 
at 1 January 2022 557) 822) 224) 1,603) 
Amortisation charge –) 112) 65) 177) 
Disposals (385) (578) –) (963) 

) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2022 172) 356) 289) 817) 
Amortisation charge –) 124) 79) 203) 

) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2023 172) 480) 368) 1,020) 

) ) ) ) 
Net book amount 
at 31 December 2023 10,770) 501) 334) 11,605) 

) ) ) ) 
at 31 December 2022 10,770) 625) 333) 11,728) 

) ) ) ) 

18.  Company Cost 
at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 
and 31 December 2023 80) –) 17) 97) 

) ) ) ) 
Accumulated amortisation 
at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 
and 31 December 2023 80) –) 17) 97) 

) ) ) ) 

Net book amount 
at 31 December 2022 and 2023 –) –) –) –) 

) ) ) ) 

Goodwill is not amortised under IFRS, but is subject to impairment testing either annually 
or on the occurrence of a triggering event.  Impairment charges are included in 
administration expenses and disclosed as an exceptional cost. 

Customer relationship related assets and other intangibles in respect of computer 
software, website costs and licences are amortised over their estimated economic lives.  
The annual amortisation charge is expensed to cost of sales in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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18.  Intangible assets 
18.  continued

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible assets 

The Group tests goodwill and intangible assets arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary 
(customer relationships) annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications 
that goodwill or customer relationship assets may be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and customer assets are allocated to the 
Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) on a business segment basis: 

Aford) Hickton) 
Awards) Friedman’s) Group) Total) 

£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 
Goodwill 

At 31 December 2022 and 2023 1,838) 3,167) 5,765) 10,770) 
) ) ) ) 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is based on value-in-use calculations.  These 
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period.  Cash flows beyond five years are assumed 
to increase only by a long-term growth rate of 1.5%.  A discount rate of 13.4% 
(2022: 12.8%), representing the estimated pre-tax cost of capital, has been applied to 
these projections. 

Management has determined the budgeted revenue growth and gross margins based 
on past performance and their expectations of market developments in the future. 
Long-term growth rates are based on the lower of the UK long-term growth rate and 
management’s general expectations for the relevant CGU. 

In respect of all three CGUs, the value-in-use calculation gives rise to sufficient headroom 
such that reasonable changes in the key assumptions do not eliminate the headroom. 

 

    

CEPS PLC  31 December 2023 

Notes to the Financial Statements  continued



57

Shares) Loans) Total) 
in Group) to Group) investments) 

subsidiaries) subsidiaries)in subsidiaries) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) 

19.  Company Cost and net book value 
at 31 December 2021 and 2022 207) 3,067) 3,274) 
Additions 2) 57) 59) 

) ) ) 
at 31 December 2023 209) 3,124) 3,333) 

) ) ) 

The loans to Group subsidiaries’ balance is represented by £2,649,000 of 8% loan 
stock, £100,000 of 6% loan stock and £375,000 of 7% loan stock which have no set 
repayment dates (2022: £2,592,000 of 8% loan stock, £100,000 of 6% loan stock and 
£375,000 of 7% loan stock).  Repayments will only be requested when surplus cash is 
available. 

The Company acquired an additional 1.45% shareholding from a minority shareholder in 
Hickton Group Limited during the year together with £57,000 of loan notes. 

Investment in associate 
The Company and the Group also hold 33% of the ordinary shares in Vale Brothers 
Group Limited, a company registered in England and Wales.  This associate holding was 
acquired in exchange for the shares in Davies Odell Limited together with loan notes 
receivable of £405,000 in Vale Brothers Group Limited on 18 December 2020.  The 
associate has had significant trading difficulties and has gone into administration in 2023.  
Both the investment in shares and loan stock are considered to have a fair value of £nil 
with no value recorded in the consolidation at 31 December 2022 or 2023. 
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Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment. 
A list of subsidiary undertakings, all of which have been included in the consolidation, is 
given below. 

* Wholly or 
Proportion of* non-wholly

Place of ownership* owned 
Name of subsidiary and principal activity operation interests* subsidiary 

Aford Awards Group Holdings Limited England 75%* Non-wholly 
Holding company for 
Aford Awards (Holdings) Limited 

Aford Awards (Holdings) Limited England 75%* Non-wholly 
Holding company for Aford Awards Limited 

Aford Awards Limited England 75%* Non-wholly 
Suppliers of trophies and awards 
and engraving specialists 

BRCS (Building Control) Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Dormant company 
Dissolved 30 April 2024 

Cook Brown Building Control Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Provider of building control services 

Cook Brown Energy Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Provider of building control services 

Friedman’s Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Conversion and distribution of specialist lycra 

Hickton Group Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Holding company for the bulding control 
and safety compliance subsidiaries 

Hickton (Holdings) Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Dormant company 
Dissolved 2 January 2024 

Hickton Quality Control Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Clerk of Works specialists 

Milano International Holdings Limited England 50%* Non-wholly 
Holding company for Milano International Limited 

Milano International Limited England 50%* Non-wholly 
(trading as Milano Pro-Sport) 

Design and manufacture of leotards 

Millington Lord Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Dormant company 
Dissolved 2 January 2024 

Morgan Lambert Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Gas and electrical safety services 

Qualitas Compliance Limited England 54%* Non-wholly 
Gas safety consultancy services 

Signature Fabrics Limited England 55%* Non-wholly 
Holding company for Friedman’s Limited 

19.  Investments  continued
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* Wholly or 
Proportion of* non-wholly

Place of ownership* owned 
Name of subsidiary and principal activity operation interests* subsidiary 

Davies & Co (Kettering) Limited* England 100%* Wholly 
Dormant company 

Phillips Rubber Limited* England 100%* Wholly 
Dormant company 

Farmat Limited* England 100%* Wholly 
Dormant company 

Davies and Company Limited* England 100%* Wholly 
Dormant company 

* These entities are excluded from the consolidation on the basis that they are dormant. 

The non-controlling interests disclosed below are considered to be material based on 
percentage holding and performance contributed to the Group. 

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have a material non-controlling interest are 
as follows: 

Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position                              Signature Fabrics Group      Hickton Holdings Group 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

As at 31 December 
Current 
Assets 3,096) 3,215) 3,765) 3,051) 
Liabilities (1,590) (1,235) (4,903) (4,051) 

) ) ) ) 
Total current net assets/(liabilities) 1,506) 1,980) (1,138) (1,000) 

) ) ) ) 
Non-current 
Assets 4,934) 4,360) 6,654) 6,594) 
Liabilities (1,277) (1,009) (1,942) (3,131) 

) ) ) ) 
Total non-current net assets 3,657) 3,351) 4,712) 3,463) 

) ) ) ) 
Net assets 5,163) 5,331) 3,574) 2,463) 

) ) ) ) 

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income                          Signature Fabrics Group      Hickton Holdings Group 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

For year ended 31 December 
Revenue 6,826) 6,423) 19,373) 16,940) 
Profit before income tax 426) 438) 1,284) 1,056) 
Income tax expense (131) (82) (314) (203) 
Post-tax profit from continuing operations 295) 356) 970) 853) 

) ) ) ) 
Total comprehensive income 295) 356) 970) 853) 

) ) ) ) 
Total comprehensive income allocated 

to non-controlling interests 171) 147) 448) 407) 
) ) ) ) 
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2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

20.  Group Raw materials and consumables 360) 530)  
Work in progress 50) 7) 
Finished goods and goods for resale 1,978) 1,601) 

) ) 
2,388) 2,138) 

) ) 

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales 
amounted to £4,132,000 (2022: £3,984,000). 

 

20.  Company The Company has no inventories (2022: none). 

 

  

  

20.  Inventories
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Group Company 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Trade receivables 3,840) 3,139) –) 11)  
less: provision for impairment 

of trade receivables (12) (10) –) –) 
) ) ) ) 

Trade receivables – net 3,828) 3,129) –) 11) 
Amount due from subsidiary  

companies –) –) 1,385) 1,574) 
Other receivables 478) 443) 412) 4) 
Prepayments and accrued income 531) 434) 9) 15) 

) ) ) ) 
4,837) 4,006) 1,806) 1,604) 

) ) ) ) 

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables of £1,514,000 (2022: £1,575,000) were fully 
performing. 

Trade receivables that are less than three months past due are not considered impaired.  
As of 31 December 2023, trade receivables of £1,924,000 (2022: £1,318,000) were past 
due, but not impaired.  These relate to a number of independent customers for whom 
there is no recent history of default. 

At 31 December 2023 trade receivables of £402,000 (2022: £246,000) were potentially 
impaired.  A significant portion of the receivables is however expected to be recovered 
and a provision of £12,000 (2022: £10,000) has been made for non-recovery.  The 
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers who are in difficult economic 
situations. 

The carrying amounts of the Group trade and other receivables denominated in foreign 
currencies were immaterial at 31 December 2023 and 2022.  This reflects the significant 
proportion of UK activity and sales in the Group’s subsidiary businesses. 

Movements in the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows: 

2023) 2022)  
£’000) £’000)  

At 1 January 10) 16)  
Provision for receivables impairment 3) –)  
Written off against provision (1) (6)  

) )  
At 31 December 12) 10)  

) )  

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in 
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no 
expectation of recovering additional cash. 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each 
class of trade and other receivables. 

Amounts due from subsidiary companies are repayable on demand and attract interest 
at rates of 5% to 6%. 
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Group Company 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Cash at bank and in hand 916) 1,284) 185) 256)  
) ) ) ) 

 

Group Company 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Current: 
Trade payables 1,442) 1,314) 30) 22)  
Other payables 384) 495) –) –) 
Accruals 970) 826) 154) 241) 
Deferred income 887) 690) –) –) 

) ) ) ) 
Total trade and other payables 3,683) 3,325) 184) 263) 
Non-current: ) ) ) ) 
Other payables 60) 208) –) –) 

) ) ) ) 

Included in other payables is deferred consideration in respect of prior year business 
acquisitions. 

 

Group Company 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Other tax and social security 1,180) 1,175) 3) 5)  
Corporation tax 220) 271) –) –) 

) ) ) ) 
1,400) 1,446) 3) 5) 

) ) ) )
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Group Company 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Non-current: 
Bank loans 367) 1,122) –) –) 
Other loans 6,522) 7,245) 4,950) 4,950)

) ) ) ) 
6,889) 8,367) 4,950) 4,950) 

IFRS 16 lease liabilities 1,721) 1,522) –) –) 
) ) ) ) 

8,610) 9,889) 4,950) 4,950) 
Current: ) ) ) ) 
Bank loans 213) 437) –) –) 
Overdraft and trade receivables 

backed working capital facilities 1,080) 578) –) –) 
Other loans 885) 472) 192) 192) 

) ) ) ) 
2,178) 1,487) 192) 192) 

IFRS 16 lease liabilities 449) 313) –) –) 
) ) ) ) 

2,627) 1,800) 192) 192) 
) ) ) ) 

Total borrowings and lease liabilities 11,237) 11,689) 5,142) 5,142) 
) ) ) ) 

Other loans can be analysed as follows: Group Company 

2023) 2022) 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Non-current: 
From an entity under common control 2,950) 2,950) 2,950) 2,950) 
From a third party 2,000) 2,000) 2,000) 2,000) 
Acquisition loan notes 1,432) 2,155) –) –) 
From directors of a subsidiary 140) 140) –) –)

) ) ) ) 
6,522) 7,245) 4,950) 4,950) 

) ) ) )
Current: 
From a director 192) 192) 192) 192) 
Acquisition loan notes 693) 280) –) –) 

) ) ) ) 
885) 472) 192) 192) 

) ) ) ) 

Bank borrowings and overdrafts are secured by fixed and floating charges over the 
assets of the subsidiaries to which they relate.  Trade receivable backed working capital 
facilities were secured by the trade receivable to which they relate.  All borrowings are 
denominated in Sterling. 

Obligations under hire purchase contracts are secured against the assets to which they 
relate. 
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At 31 December 2023 the analysis of the security of bank borrowings and overdrafts and 
trade receivables backed working capital facilities was as follows: 

By fixed and) By trade)  
floating charges) receivables) Total) 

Secured on the assets of £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Aford Awards Limited 48) –) 48) 
Friedman’s 227) –) 227) 
Milano International 55) –) 55) 
Hickton Group and its direct subsidiaries 720) 610) 1,330) 

) ) ) 
1,050) 610) 1,660) 

) ) ) 

At 31 December 2022 the analysis of the security of bank borrowings and overdrafts and 
trade receivables backed working capital facilities was as follows: 

By fixed and) By trade)  
floating charges) receivables) Total) 

Secured on the assets of £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Aford Awards Limited 67) –) 67) 
Friedman’s 232) –) 232) 
Milano International 73) –) 73) 
Hickton Group and its direct subsidiaries 1,209) 578) 1,787) 

) ) ) 
1,581) 578) 2,159) 

) ) )  

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the maturity of 
loans and lease liabilities at the dates of the Statement of Financial Position are as 
follows: 

2023) 

Bank) Other) Leases) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) 

Liabilities falling due: 
Within one year 1,293) 885) 449) 
Between one and two years 125) 5,918) 436) 
Between two and five years 49) 604) 942) 
In more than five years 193) –) 343) 

) ) ) 
1,660) 7,407) 2,170) 

) ) ) 

2022) 
Bank) Other) Leases) 

£’000) £’000) £’000) 

Liabilities falling due: 
Within one year 1,015) 472) 313) 
Between one and two years 752) 3,378) 296) 
Between two and five years 171) 3,867) 763) 
In more than five years 199) –) 463) 

) ) ) 
2,137) 7,717) 1,835) 

) ) ) 

The principal bank borrowings are subject to floating interest rates with £227,000 at 
3.1% over base rates (2022: £232,000), £nil (2022: £250,000) at 3.5% over base rates, 
£250,000 (2022: £417,000) at 3.8% over base rates and £nil (2022: £542,000) at 8% 
over base rates. 
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Other loans of £2,950,000 (2022: £2,950,000) are due to a company under common 
control.  The total available facility is £3,000,000.  This is subject to a rolling 18 months 
notice and at 31 December 2023 was due for repayment by 30 June 2025.  Amounts 
due attract interest at 5% per annum.  The loan is unsecured, but guaranteed by a 
director, see note 29. 

The loan from a third party of £2,000,000 is unsecured, also guaranteed by a 
director and is repayable by 30 June 2025.  Interest is payable at 7% per annum 
(2022: £2,000,000). 

There is also a loan of £192,000 (2022: £192,000) from a director which is unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable when any excess cash is available. 

In Hickton Group Limited, there are £nil (2022: £253,000) of Vendor Loan Notes which 
were unsecured, attracted interest at 5% per annum and repayable by quarterly 
instalments.  There are also £1,810,000 (2022: £1,867,000) of other loan notes which are 
unsecured, attract interest at 8% per annum and which are repayable in quarterly 
instalments over three years following the final repayment of Vendor Loan Notes. 

In Milano International Holdings Limited, there are £100,000 (2022: £100,000) of loan 
notes which are unsecured, attract interest at 6% and have no fixed repayment date. 

There are £90,000 (2022: £90,000) of Shareholder Loan Notes in Aford Awards Holdings 
which are unsecured, attract interest at 8% per annum and are repayable on demand as 
there is no set repayment date. 

Aford Awards Group Holdings Limited has £125,000 (2022: £125,000) of loan notes 
which are unsecured, attract interest at 7% per annum and which have no fixed 
repayment date. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in Sterling. 

The Group has no further bank loan facilities available for drawdown. 

The fair value of non-current borrowings equals their carrying amount, as the impact of 
discounting is not significant. 

There is no material difference between the carrying book value and the fair value of the 
lease liabilities. 

25.  Borrowings and lease 
25.  liabilities  continued
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a)  Analysis of financial instruments by category 

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the categories below: 

Group 
31 December 2023 
Assets as per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Loans and) 

receivables) 
£’000) 

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 4,415) 
Cash and cash equivalents 916) 

) 
Total 5,331) 

) 
 

Liabilities at amortised cost as per Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position Other financial) 

liabilities) 
£’000) 

Bank borrowings 1,660) 
Lease liabilities 2,170) 
Trade and other payables (excluding statutory liabilities and deferred income) 2,856) 
Other loans 7,407) 

) 
Total 14,093) 

) 
 

Group 
31 December 2022 
Assets as per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Loans and) 

receivables) 
£’000) 

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3,572) 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,284) 

) 
Total 4,856) 

) 
 

Liabilities at amortised cost as per Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position Other financial) 

liabilities) 
£’000) 

Bank borrowings 2,137) 
Lease liabilities 1,846) 
Trade and other payables (excluding statutory liabilities and deferred income) 2,645) 
Other loans 7,717) 

) 
Total 14,345) 

) 

The Group’s assets in both the current and prior year are categorised as cash and cash 
equivalents and receivables.  The Group’s liabilities are categorised as other financial 
liabilities at amortised cost.
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b)  Credit quality of financial assets 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information 
about counterparty default rates: 

Trade receivables are analysed between: 

Group 2023) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) 

CEPS Group –) 11) 
Aford Awards 69) 89) 
Friedman’s 553) 368) 
Hickton Group 3,364) 2,661) 

) ) 
3,986) 3,129) 

) ) 

The Group has a customer base which is for the most part stable, long standing and well 
known to the businesses.  Credit and credit terms are negotiated with these customers 
taking into account their trading history with the Group and their payment record.  New 
customers are only given credit after taking references or making trade and agency 
enquiries.  Management does not believe there to be a credit exposure beyond that for 
which provision has already been made. 

The Group cash and cash equivalents includes £916,000 (2022: £1,284,000) which is on 
account with differing financial institutions and is readily available.  The external credit 
rating as assessed by Standard & Poor’s for short-term funds for each of the institutions 
is A-1+. 
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Group and Company provisions 
The Group occupies various leased properties.  In addition, the Company was named as 
tenant on two leases which are no longer extant.  Where applicable, provision has been 
made for dilapidations, including associated professional fees, which may be required.  
As at 31 December 2023 this falls within the above provision of £400,000 (2022: £nil). 

Deferred taxation 
The following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group, and the 
movement thereon, during the current and prior years. 

Other) Accelerated) 
Intangible) timing) capital) 

assets) differences) allowances) Total) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

At 1 January 2022, liability (121) 10) (144) (255) 
Acquisition of a business (101) –) –) (101) 
Credit/(debit) to the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 26) –) (8) 18) 
) ) ) ) 

at 31 December 2022, liability (196) 10) (152) (338) 
Credit/(debit) to the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 39) (7) (66) (34) 
) ) ) ) 

at 31 December 2023, liability (157) 3) (218) (372) 
) ) ) ) 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the 
deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the 
realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. 
There are unrecognised deferred tax assets of £475,000 at the rate of 25% at 
31 December 2023 (2022: £394,000). 

 

Ordinary) Share) 
Number) £0.10 shares) premium) Total) 

of shares) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

At 31 December 2022 and 2023 21,000,000) 2,100) 7,017) 9,117) 
) ) ) ) 

Subsequent to the year end, in March 2024 a special resolution was passed to reduce 
the nominal value of each share from 10 pence to 0.3 pence and to cancel the share 
premium resulting in a total nominal value of £63,000, no share premium and with an 
amount of £9,054,000 transferred to retained earnings.  The capital reduction received 
Court approval on 30 April 2024 and is expected to become effective in early May 2024. 
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During the year the Company entered into the following transactions with its subsidiaries. 

Aford Awards) Hickton) 
Group) Signature) Group) 

Holdings) Fabrics) Limited) 
Limited) Limited) subsidiaries) 

£’000) £’000) £’000) 

Loan interest receivable 
– 2023 76) 56) 193) 
– 2022 70) 60) 191) 

Management charge income receivable 
– 2023 20) 35) 25) 
– 2022 20) 35) 16) 

Dividends received 
– 2023 –) 193) –) 
– 2022 –) 193) –) 

Amount owed to the Company 
– 31 December 2023 1,254) 816) 2,439) 
– 31 December 2022 1,235) 1,000) 2,406) 

The Company is under the control of its shareholders and not any one individual party. 

At the year end the parent company owed a loan of £2,950,000 (2022: £2,950,000) and 
accrued interest of £nil (2022: £124,000) to an entity with common shareholders and 
interest of £148,000 (2022: £148,000) was charged on this loan during the year.  The loan 
is guaranteed by D A Horner. 

At the year end the Company owed £2,000,000 to a third party (2022: £2,000,000).  
Interest of £140,000 (2022: £140,000) was charged on the third party loan during the 
year.  The loan is guaranteed by D A Horner. 

At the year end the Company owed £192,000 (2022: £192,000) to a director, D A Horner.  
The loan is unsecured and interest free. 

At the year end amounts owed to directors of subsidiary companies and their close 
family members in respect of acquisition loan notes amounted to £1,720,000 
(2022: £1,974,000).  Interest payable on these loans in the year amounted to £127,000 
(2022: £150,000). 

At the year end amounts owed to directors of subsidiary companies in relation to loans 
amounted to £140,000 (2022: £140,000).  Interest paid on these loans in the year 
amounted to £7,000 (2022: £5,000). 
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29.  Related party 
29.  transactions  continued

These amounts are analysed below: 

At 31 December 2023 
Amount) Interest)Interest) 

Related party Company Position £’000) £’000) %) 

R Ferguson Aford Awards Limited Director 62) 4) 7) 

R Ferguson Aford Awards Limited Director 90) 5) 5) 

P Wood Aford Awards Limited Director 63) 4) 7) 

P Wood Aford Awards Limited Director 50) 3) 5) 

J Ford Aford Awards (Holdings) Limited Former director 90) 7) 8) 

M Brown Hickton Group Limited Director 437) 35) 8) 

M Brown Hickton Group Limited Director –) 3) 5) 

J Cook Hickton Group Limited Director 560) 40) 8) 

J Cook Hickton Group Limited Director –) 3) 5) 

A Mobbs Hickton Group Limited Former director 298) 24) 8) 

J Pryke Hickton Group Limited Director 210) 12) 8) 

) )
1,860) 140) 

) ) 

At 31 December 2022 
 

Amount) Interest)Interest) 
Related party Company Position £’000) £’000) %) 

R Ferguson Aford Awards Limited Director 62) 4) 7) 

R Ferguson Aford Awards Limited Director 90) 3) 5) 

P Wood Aford Awards Limited Director 63) 4) 7) 

P Wood Aford Awards Limited Director 50) 2) 5) 

J Ford Aford Awards (Holdings) Limited Former director 90) 7) 8) 

M Brown Hickton Group Limited Director 437) 35) 8) 

M Brown Hickton Group Limited Director 127) 12) 5) 

J Cook Hickton Group Limited Director 560) 40) 8) 

J Cook Hickton Group Limited Director 127) 12) 5) 

A Mobbs Hickton Group Limited Former director 298) 24) 8) 

J Pryke Hickton Group Limited Director 210) 12) 8) 

) )
2,114) 155) 

) ) 
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30.  Change in liabilities 
30.  arising from financing 
30.  activities

At 1 January) Non-cash)At 31 December) 
2023) Cash flows) changes) 2023) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Current 
Borrowings 1,487) (808) 1,198) 1,877) 
Lease liabilities 313) (398) 534) 449) 

) ) ) 
1,800) (1,206) 1,732) 2,326) 

Non-current 
Borrowings 8,367) –) (1,177) 7,190) 
Lease liabilities 1,522) –) 199) 1,721) 

) ) ) ) 
9,889) –) (978) 8,911) 

) ) ) ) 
11,689) (1,206) 754) 11,237) 

) ) ) ) 

 

At 1 January) Non-cash) At 31 December) 
2022) Cash flows) changes) 2022) 
£’000) £’000) £’000) £’000) 

Current 
Borrowings 1,759) (308) 36) 1,487) 
Lease liabilities 258) (326) 381) 313) 

) ) ) ) 
2,017) (634) 417) 1,800) 

Non-current 
Borrowings 8,436) (69) –) 8,367) 
Lease liabilities 1,096) –) 426) 1,522) 

) ) ) ) 
9,532) (69) 426) 9,889) 

) ) ) ) ) 
11,549) (703) 843) 11,689) 

) ) ) )  
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Group Information 

Directors D A Horner, Chairman 
V E Langford, Group Finance 
G C Martin, Non-executive 
D E Johnson, Non-executive 

Secretary and V E Langford 
registered office 11 Laura Place, Bath BA2 4BL 

Company number 00507461 
www.cepsplc.com 

Operating locations Aford Awards Limited 
Grange House, Bearsted Green Business Centre, Maidstone ME14 4DF 
telephone 01622 738711; email orders@afordawards.co.uk; www.afordawards.co.uk 

Cook Brown Building Control Limited and Cook Brown Energy Limited 
Unit 4, Middle Bridge Business Park, Bristol Road, Portishead, Bristol BS20 6PN 
telephone 01275 848228; email admin@cookbrown.co.uk; www.cookbrown.co.uk 

Friedman’s Limited 
Unit E, Altrincham Business Park, 3 Tudor Road, Altrincham WA14 5RZ 
telephone 0161 975 9002; email info@friedmans.co.uk; 
www.friedmans.co.uk; www.funkifabrics.com; www.alexandermaverick.co.uk 

Hickton Quality Control Limited 
Amber Court, 51 Church Street, Elsecar, Barnsley S74 8HT 
telephone 01226 743959; email info@hickton.co.uk; www.hickton.co.uk 

Milano International Limited (trading as Milano Pro-Sport) 
The Arena, 65 Bow Lane, Preston PR1 8ND 
telephone 01772 277777; email info@milano-pro-sport.com; 
www.milano-pro-sport.com 

Morgan Lambert Limited 
3 Escrick Business Park, Escrick, York YO19 6FD 
telephone 01757 210598; email info@morganlambert.com; www.morganlambert.com 

Qualitas Compliance Limited 
3 Escrick Business Park, Escrick, York YO19 6FD 
telephone 01925 377278; email info@qualitascompliance.com; 
www.qualitascompliance.com 

Registrars and Share Registrars Limited 
share transfer office 3 The Millennium Centre, Crosby Way, Farnham GU9 7XX 

telephone 01252 821390, lines are open 9.00am to 5.30pm Monday to Friday 

Share price information The day-to-day movement of the share price on the London Stock Exchange can be 
found on the Company’s website and at www.londonstockexchange.com (code CEPS) 

Independent auditor Cooper Parry Group Limited 
Sky View, Argosy Road, East Midlands Airport, Castle Donington, Derby DE74 2SA 

Solicitors Roxburgh Milkins Limited 
Merchants House North, Wapping Road, Bristol BS1 4RW 

Nominated adviser Cairn Financial Advisers LLP 
and broker 80 Cheapside, London EC2V 6EE
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of CEPS PLC (the ‘Company’) 
will be held at 11 Laura Place, Bath BA2 4BL on Monday 10 June 2024 at 11.30am for 
the following purposes: 

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions, of which resolutions 
numbered 1 to 5 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and resolutions numbered 
6 and 7 will be proposed as special resolutions. 

1 To receive, consider and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2023 together with the Directors’ Report and Auditor’s 
Report on those accounts. 

2 To re-appoint D A Horner, V E Langford, D E Johnson and G C Martin as directors. 

3 To re-appoint Cooper Parry Group Limited, Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Auditor, as auditor of the Company to hold office from conclusion of the meeting 
to the conclusion of the next meeting at which the accounts are to be laid. 

4 To authorise the directors to agree the auditor’s remuneration. 

5 THAT, in substitution for any existing authority subsisting at the date of this 
resolution to the extent unused, the directors be generally and unconditionally 
authorised in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’) 
to allot Ordinary Shares in the Company or grant rights to subscribe for or to 
convert any security into Ordinary Shares in the Company up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £63,000, such authority to expire at the commencement of 
the next Annual General Meeting held after the date of the passing of this 
resolution, but so that the Company may, before the expiry of such period, make 
an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted 
after the expiry of such period and the directors may allot equity securities 
pursuant to such an offer or agreement as if the authority had not expired. 

6 THAT subject to and conditional on the passing of resolution number 5 and in 
substitution for any existing authority subsisting at the date of this resolution to 
the extent unused, the directors be empowered, pursuant to section 570 of the 
Act, to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the Act) for 
cash pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution number 5 as if section 
561(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power 
shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities: 

6.1 in connection with an offer of such securities by way of rights issue (as 
defined below); 

For the purposes of resolution 6.1, ‘rights issue’ means an offer of equity 
securities to holders of Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company on the 
register on a record date fixed by the directors in proportion as nearly as may be 
to the respective numbers of Ordinary Shares held by them, but subject to such 
exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or 
expedient to deal with any treasury shares, fractional entitlements or legal or 
practical issues arising under the laws of, or the requirements of, any recognised 
regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory or any other matter. 

6.2 otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph 6.1 above up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £63,000 (such shares representing 100% of the Company’s 
issued ordinary capital as at the date of this notice), and shall expire at the 
commencement of the next Annual General Meeting held after the date of the 
passing of this resolution, save that the Company may, before such expiry, make 
an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted 
after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of any 
such offer or agreement as if the power had not expired. 

Annual General Meeting
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7 THAT the Company be generally and unconditionally authorised to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of Ordinary Shares of 
0.3 pence each in the capital of the Company on such terms as the directors 
think fit, provided that: 

7.1 the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be 
purchased is limited to an aggregate of 2,100,000 (such shares representing 10% 
of the Company’s issued ordinary capital as at the date of this notice); 

7.2 the minimum price, exclusive of any expenses, which may be paid for an 
Ordinary Share is 0.3 pence; 

7.3 the maximum price, exclusive of any expenses, which may be paid for 
each Ordinary Share is an amount equal to the higher of: (a) 105% of the average 
of the middle market quotations for an Ordinary Share, as derived from the 
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, for the five business days immediately 
preceding the day on which the Ordinary Share is purchased; and 
(b) the amount stipulated by Article 5(6) of the Market Abuse Regulation, (EU) 
No 596/2014 (as amended); and 

7.4 the authority hereby conferred shall, unless previously revoked and varied, 
expire at the commencement of the next Annual General Meeting held after the 
date of the passing of the resolution (except in relation to the purchase of Ordinary 
Shares the contract for which was concluded before the expiry of this authority 
and which will or may be executed wholly or partly after such expiry). 

 

On behalf of the Board 
V E Langford 
Company Secretary 
2 May 2024 

Annual General Meeting 
continued
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Annual General Meeting 
continued

Notes 

1. A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint proxy(ies) to attend, speak 
and vote instead of them.  A member may appoint more than one proxy, provided 
that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to different shares. 
A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

2. A member can register their vote(s) for the Annual General Meeting in advance, by 
either: 

a) logging on to www.shareregistrars.uk.com, clicking on the ‘Proxy Vote’ button 
and then following the on-screen instructions, using the user name and access code 
on the proxy form accompanying this notice; 

b) completing and sending the proxy form accompanying this notice and any power 
of attorney or other authority under which it is executed (or a duly certified copy of 
any such power or authority) by post or by hand to Share Registrars Limited, 
3 The Millennium Centre, Crosby Way, Farnham, Surrey GU9 7XX; or 

c) in the case of CREST members, utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment 
service in accordance with the procedures set out below. 

3. In order for a proxy appointment to be valid, the proxy must be received by Share 
Registrars Limited (either by delivery to Share Registrars at 3 The Millenium Centre, 
Crosby Way, Farnham, Surrey GU9 7XX, or by a member logging on to 
www.shareregistrars.uk.com, clicking on the ‘Proxy Vote’ button and then following 
the on-screen instructions) no later than 11.30am on Thursday 6 June 2024. 

4. The appointment of a proxy will not prevent a shareholder from subsequently 
attending and voting at the meeting in person. 

5. Under Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those 
shareholders whose names are on the register of members of the Company as at 
11.30am on Thursday 6 June 2024 or, if the meeting is adjourned, shareholders 
entered on the Company’s register of members not later than 48 hours in terms of 
business days before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting are entitled to attend 
and vote at the meeting in respect of the shares registered in their names at that time.  
Subsequent changes to the register shall be disregarded in determining the rights of 
any person to attend and vote at the meeting. 

6. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST 
electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the Annual General Meeting and 
any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. 

CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST 
members who have appointed a voting service provider(s) should refer to their 
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate 
action on their behalf. 

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be 
valid, the appropriate CREST message (a ‘CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be 
properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK and International Limited’s 
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as 
described in the CREST Manual. 

The message, regardless of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or to an 
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to 
be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent 7RA36 by the 
latest time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified above.  For this purpose, the 
time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied 
to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is 
able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by 
CREST.  After this time, any change of instructions to proxies appointed through 
CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means. 

CEPS PLC  Company number 00507461 
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Note 6 continued 

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service 
providers should note that Euroclear UK and International Limited does not make 
available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages.  Normal system 
timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy 
Instructions.  It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if 
the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has 
appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his or her CREST sponsor or 
voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a 
message is transmitted by means of CREST by any particular time.  In this 
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or 
voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST 
Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings. 

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances 
set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 


